Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: July 2, 2018 REVISED: October 15, 2018 ACCEPTED: November 9, 2018 PUBLISHED: November 22, 2018

New 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ dualities from quadratic monopoles

Antonio Amariti,^a Ivan Garozzo^{b,c} and Noppadol Mekareeya^{b,d}

^a INFN, Sezione di Milano,

- Via Celoria 16, I-20133 Milano, Italy
- ^bINFN, sezione di Milano-Bicocca,
- Piazza della Scienza 3, I-20126 Milano, Italy
- ^cDipartimento di Fisica, Università di Milano-Bicocca,
- Piazza della Scienza 3, I-20126 Milano, Italy
- ^dDepartment of Physics, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Phayathai Road, Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand
 - *E-mail:* antonio.amariti@mi.infn.it, ivangarozzo@gmail.com,
- n.mekareeya@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: Aspects of three dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theories with monopole superpotentials and their dualities are investigated. The moduli spaces of a number of such theories are studied using Hilbert series. Moreover, we propose new dualities involving quadratic powers for the monopole superpotentials, for unitary, symplectic and orthogonal gauge groups. These dualities are then tested using the three sphere partition function and matching of the Hilbert series. We also provide an argument for the obstruction to the duality for theories with quartic monopole superpotentials.

KEYWORDS: Supersymmetry and Duality, Solitons Monopoles and Instantons, Supersymmetric Effective Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1806.01356



Contents

1	Inti	Introduction			
2			with linear monopole superpotentials	3	
	2.1	Review		3	
	2.2		ing the Hilbert series	4	
		2.2.1	The Aharony duality for unitary gauge groups	4	
		2.2.2	The duality involving $W = X^+ + X^-$	8	
		2.2.3	The duality involving $W = X^-$	9	
		2.2.4	The Giveon-Kutasov duality	13	
		2.2.5	The Benini-Closset-Cremonesi (BCC) $[p, 0]a$ duality	14	
		2.2.6	The duality involving $W = X^-$, chiral flavours and Chern-Simons		
			terms	16	
		2.2.7	The Aharony duality for symplectic gauge groups	18	
		2.2.8	The duality involving symplectic gauge groups and $W = Y$	20	
		2.2.9	The BCC duality for orthogonal gauge groups	21	
			The ARSW duality for special orthogonal gauge groups	24	
		2.2.11	The duality involving orthogonal gauge groups and $W = Y$	26	
3	Dua	alities v	with quadratic monopole superpotentials	27	
	3.1	The ef	fect of quadratic monopole superpotential terms	27	
	3.2	Model	s with unitary gauge groups	28	
		3.2.1	$W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$	28	
		3.2.2	$W = (X^-)^2$	28	
		3.2.3	$W = (X^{-})^{2}$, chiral flavour and Chern-Simons terms	29	
	3.3	Model	s with symplectic gauge groups	29	
	3.4	Model	s with orthogonal gauge groups	29	
4	The three sphere partition function				
	4.1	The unitary case		31	
		4.1.1	Flowing from $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$ to $W = (X^-)^2$	31	
		4.1.2	Flowing from $W = (X^{-})^2$ to the Aharony duality	35	
		4.1.3	The $W = (X^{-})^{2}$ duality with the Chern-Simons term	36	
	4.2	The sy	vmplectic case	38	
	4.3			39	
		4.3.1	Even orthogonal case	40	
		4.3.2	Odd orthogonal case	42	
		4.3.3	Flowing to Aharony in the orthogonal case	42	

49

5	Matching the Hilbert series		
	5.1	Models with unitary gauge groups	43
		5.1.1 $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$	43
		5.1.2 $W = (X^{-})^{2}$	43
		5.1.3 $W = (X^{-})^{2}$, chiral flavours and CS terms	45
	5.2	Models with symplectic gauge groups	46
	5.3	Models with orthogonal gauge groups	46
6	Fur	ther developments	47
	6.1	The quartic monopole superpotential	47

6.2 Future directions

1 Introduction

The three dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ dualities is a classic subject [1–5] and remains to be an active field of research for several reasons. This is partly because of its connection with four dimensional dualities, as the Seiberg duality [6] and the S-duality. It is also because of the recent interest on 3d theory with lower supersymmetry, namely $\mathcal{N} = 1$ (see e.g. [7–11]), and on the non supersymmetric case (see e.g. [12–16]). One of the main reasons why the web of 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ dualities is rich and interesting is related to the presence of a Coulomb branch, that corresponds to the moduli space of a dynamical real scalar inside the vector multiplet. The Coulomb branch can be parameterized in terms of complex coordinates, obtained by combining the real scalar discussed above with the dual photon. This is possible because the gauge symmetry on the Coulomb branch is broken to the maximal abelian torus. The complex combinations obtained from the real scalars and the dual photons correspond to the insertion of monopole operators in the path integral.

It is possible to modify the superpotential by the contribution of such monopole operators, parameterized in terms of the Coulomb branch coordinates [2, 3, 5, 17–20]. These superpotential have been shown to play a crucial role in 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ dualities. For example they have been used in the circle reduction of 4d Seiberg duality to define new effective dualities on S^1 [21, 22]. Moreover, monopole superpotentials have been used as a tool to study other field theories, such as dualites among SU(2) gauge theories with eight chiral doublets [23], dualities involving pq-webs [24], T-brane theories [25], compactification of Argyres-Douglas theories¹ to three dimensions and their mirror theories [29–32], mirror theories of 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric QCD (SQCD) with zero superpotential [33]. Higher order monopole potentials also have some applications in condensed matter and statistical physics (see e.g. [34]).

¹We mean the compactification of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories conjectured to enhance to Argyres-Douglas theories in the IR [26–28].

Theory A	Theory B	Ref.
$U(N_c) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv.},$ $W = X^+ + X^-$	$U(N_f - N_c - 2) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv.},$ $N_f^2 \text{ singlets } M, W = M\widetilde{q}q + \widehat{X}^+ + \widehat{X}^-$	[35]
$U(N_c) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv.},$ $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$	$U(N_f - N_c) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv.},$ $N_f^2 \text{ singlets } M, W = M\tilde{q}q + (\hat{X}^+)^2 + (\hat{X}^-)^2$	[35]
$U(N_c) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv.},$ $W = X^-$	$U(N_f - N_c - 1) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv., a singlet } S^+$ $N_f^2 \text{ singlets } M, W = M\tilde{q}q + \hat{X}^+ + S^+\hat{X}^-$	[35]
$U(N_c)$ with N_f fly., $W = (X^-)^2$	$U(N_f - N_c) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv., a singlet } S^+$ $N_f^2 \text{ singlets } M, W = M\tilde{q}q + (\hat{X}^+)^2 + S^+ \hat{X}^-$	Section 3.2.2
$\boxed{\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{U}(N_c)_{\frac{k}{2}} \text{ with } (N_f, N_f - k) \\ \mathrm{fund/antifund}, \ W = X^- \end{array}}$	$ \begin{array}{c} U(N_f - N_c - 1)_{-\frac{k}{2}} \text{ with } (N_f, N_f - k) \text{ fund/antifund} \\ N_f(N_f - k) \text{ singlets } M, W = M \widetilde{q} q + \widehat{X}^+ \end{array} $	[35]
$U(N_c)_{\frac{k}{2}} \text{ with } (N_f, N_f - k)$ fund/antifund, $W = (X^-)^2$	$U(N_f - N_c)_{-\frac{k}{2}} \text{ with } (N_f, N_f - k) \text{ fund/antifund}$ $N_f(N_f - k) \text{ singlets } M, W = M\tilde{q}q + (\hat{X}^+)^2$	Section 3.2.3
$USp(2N_c) \text{ with } 2N_f \text{ fund},$ $W = Y$	$\begin{aligned} & \text{USp}(2(N_f - N_c - 2)) \text{ with } 2N_f \text{ flv.}, \\ & N_f(2N_f - 1) \text{ singlets } M, W = M\widetilde{q}q + \widehat{Y} \end{aligned}$	[21]
$USp(2N_c) \text{ with } 2N_f \text{ fund},$ $W = Y^2$	USp $(2(N_f - N_c - 1))$ with N_f flv., $N_f(2N_f - 1)$ singlets $M, W = M\tilde{q}q + \hat{Y}^2$	Section 3.3
$O(N_c) \text{ or } SO(N_c) \text{ with } N_f \text{ fund,}$ $W = Y$	$O(N_f - N_c) \text{ or } SO(N_f - N_c) \text{ with } 2N_f \text{ flv.},$ $N_f(2N_f + 1) \text{ singlets } M, W = M\tilde{q}q + \hat{Y}$	[22]
$O(N_c)$ or $SO(N_c)$ with N_f fund, $W = Y^2$	$O(N_f - N_c + 2) \text{ or } SO(N_f - N_c + 2) \text{ with } N_f \text{ flv.},$ $N_f(2N_f + 1) \text{ singlets } M, W = M\tilde{q}q + \hat{Y}^2$	Section 3.4

 Table 1. Summary of the dualities.

Recently, a number of new 3d dualities for $U(N_c)$ gauge theories with monopole superpotentials have been obtained in [35]. In most of these dualities the monopole superpotentials appear with a linear power. They modify the constraint between the global charges, breaking the otherwise generated axial and/or topological symmetry. Their presence modifies the rank of the dual gauge group, with respect to the case without such linear monopole superpotential deformations. Moreover an interesting proposal appeared in [35], regarding a duality between $U(N_c)$ gauge groups and quadratic monopole superpotentials.

In this paper we elaborate on this proposal. The three main points are as follows. First, we obtain new classes of unitary, symplectic and orthogonal/special orthogonal gauge groups with quadratic monopole superpotentials. Secondly, we study the moduli space of a large class of theories with monopole superpotentials using the Hilbert series [36–40]. Thirdly, we check our proposals matching the Hilbert series and showing the consistency of the RG flow to the IR. This last step is done using localization on S^3 [41–45]. The dualities that we mostly discuss in this paper are summarized in table 1.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we review the known dualities with monopole superpotentials. After this brief review the Hilbert series for theories with monopole superpotentials are computed. For theories that are dual to each other, we also match their Hilbert series. This is by itself a new result and it will be useful in the discussion of the Hilbert series for the cases with quadratic monopole superpotentials. In section 3 we introduce the dualities with quadratic monopole superpotentials. Most of the dualities proposed in this section are new. In section 4 we show how to use the 3d partition function as a consistency check for the new dualities. In section 5 we compute the Hilbert series for the new dualities. In section 6 we provide an argument for the obstruction to the duality of quartic monopole superpotentials, as well as discuss other interesting aspects that we do not cover in the paper but deserve further investigations.

2 Dualities with linear monopole superpotentials

In this section, we consider theories with linear monopole superpotentials.

2.1 Review

Dualities with linear monopole superpotential have been obtained in [35] by studying the dimensional reduction of the four dimensional Seiberg duality between the USp $(2N_c)$ gauge theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals Q, and the USp $(2(N_f - N_c - 2))$ gauge theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals q, an anti-symmetric meson M = QQ, and superpotential W = Mqq [46]. The reduction of this theory on S^1 was studied in [21], and the duality was shown to be preserved if a Kaluza-Klein (KK) monopole superpotential was added to both the phases. The 3d limit considered in [35] consists of a large positive shift of the real masses of N_f fundamentals and a large negative shift for the remaining N_f fundamentals. Furthermore a similar shift was considered for the real scalar σ in the vector multiplet, in both the electric and the magnetic theory. The two shifts have an opposite sign in order to keep the duality in the IR. This construction led to a 3d duality between the U(N_c) gauge theory with N_f fundamental flavors and superpotential

$$W = X^{+} + X^{-} \tag{2.1}$$

and the U($N_f - N_c - 2$) gauge theory with N_f fundamental flavors, N_f^2 singlets M and superpotential

$$W = Mq\tilde{q} + \hat{X}^{+} + \hat{X}^{-} \tag{2.2}$$

The superpotential terms for the monopoles X^{\pm} and \hat{X}^{\pm} break the axial and the topological symmetry and constraint the *R*-charge of the fundamentals.

A similar duality was constructed in [35], involving only one monopole superpotential. This duality can be constructed from four dimensions as well and it consists of the $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f fundamental flavors and superpotential

$$W = X^{-} \tag{2.3}$$

and the U($N_f - N_c - 2$) gauge theory with N_f fundamentals, N_f^2 singlets M and superpotential

$$W = Mq\tilde{q} + \hat{X}^{+} + \hat{X}^{-}S^{+} \tag{2.4}$$

where S^+ corresponds to the monopole X^+ of the electric theory, acting as a singlet in the dual phase.

Another duality considered in [35] was obtained from this case by turning on a large real mass for k anti-fundamentals. This flow needs a large shift for the FI as well. The final result consists of a relation between the $U(N_c)_{\frac{k}{2}}$ with N_f fundamentals Q, $N_a = N_f - k$ antifundamentals \tilde{Q} and superpotential

$$W = X^{-} \tag{2.5}$$

and the $U(N_f - N_c - 1)_{-\frac{k}{2}}$ with N_f fundamental and N_a antifundamentals, N_f^2 singlets M and superpotential

$$W = \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \sum_{j=1}^{N_a} M_j^i q_i \tilde{q}^j + \hat{X}^+ .$$
 (2.6)

Dualities with linear monopole superpotential have been constructed for real gauge groups as well. They consists of the circle reduction of four dimensional Seiberg duality for $USp(2N_c)$ and $O(N_c)$ gauge groups. These dualities have been constructed in [21] for the symplectic case and in [22] for the orthogonal case. In the second case different constructions were needed, depending on the global properties of the gauge group. The linear monopole superpotential in these cases is associated to the KK monopole, which is constructed algebraically from the affine root of the B_n , C_n and D_n series.

2.2 Matching the Hilbert series

In this section, we study the moduli spaces and compute the Hilbert series of a number of gauge theories with linear monopole superpotentials. Let us briefly discuss some general features of such theories. Suppose that V is one of the basic monopole operator of the theory.² By putting V in the superpotential, say W = V, the *R*-charge of V is fixed to 2. This also results in fixing the *R*-charge of the chiral fields in the theory. Next, we consider the gauge theory whose gauge group is left unbroken by the monopole operators; this is known as the "residual theory" (see [36, 37] for more details of this notion). If V is the only basic monopole operator in the theory, then the gauge group is left unbroken by the original theory. However, if there are other basic monopole operators, there remain Coulomb branches parametrised by those monopole operators that need to be analysed.

Let us now discuss this in several examples below.

2.2.1 The Aharony duality for unitary gauge groups

As a warm-up, let us consider the Aharony duality, proposed in [5]:

 $^{^2 \}mathrm{In}$ the case of the Chern-Simons theory, this basic monopole operator must be neutral under the gauge symmetry.

Theory A: $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours and W = 0.

Theory B: $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets M, singlets S^{\pm} and superpotential $W = M\tilde{q}q + S^-V^+ + S^+V^-$, where V^{\pm} are the basic monopole operators in theory B.

Note that S^{\pm} in theory *B* are mapped to the basic monopoles operators in theory *A*. In what follows, we discuss the moduli space and the Hilbert series of theories *A* and *B*. In the following, we analyse the moduli space and compute the Hilbert series of these theories.

Theory *A*. The Hilbert series of theory *A* was studied in detail in [37]. Let us review the computation briefly here. By the Callias index theorem, The monopole flux takes the form $(m_1, 0, \ldots, 0, m_{N_c})$ with $m_1 \ge 0 \ge m_{N_c}$. The residual theories are as follows:³

- 1. $m_1 = m_{N_c} = 0$. The residual theory is the whole $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours.
- 2. $m_1 > 0 = m_{N_c}$. The residual theory is $U(N_c 1)$ with N_f flavours.
- 3. $m_1 = 0 > m_{N_c}$. The residual theory is $U(N_c 1)$ with N_f flavours.
- 4. $m_1 > 0 > m_{N_c}$. The residual theory is $U(N_c 2)$ with N_f flavours;

Adding up the mesonic Hilbert series of these residual theories weighted by the factors associated to bare monopole operators, we obtain the Hilbert series of the total moduli space of theory A as follows:

$$H^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r) = H^{U}_{N_{c}, N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r) + \left(\sum_{m_{1}=1}^{\infty} t^{|m_{1}|P} z^{m_{1}} y^{m_{1}(-N_{f})} + \sum_{m_{N_{c}}=-\infty}^{-1} t^{|m_{N_{c}}|P} z^{m_{N_{c}}} y^{-m_{N_{c}}(-N_{f})}\right) H^{U}_{N_{c}-1, N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r) + \sum_{m_{1}=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m_{N_{c}}=-\infty}^{-1} t^{|m_{1}-m_{N_{c}}|P} z^{m_{1}+m_{N_{c}}} H^{U}_{N_{c}-2, N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r)$$

$$(2.7)$$

and so

$$H^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r) = H^{U}_{N_{c}, N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r) + \left[\frac{t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z}{1 - t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z} + \frac{t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z^{-1}}{1 - t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z^{-1}} \right] H^{U}_{N_{c}-1, N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r) \\
 + \left[\frac{t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z}{1 - t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z} \cdot \frac{t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z^{-1}}{1 - t^{P} y^{-N_{f}} z^{-1}} \right] H^{U}_{N_{c}-2, N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r)$$
(2.8)

³We omit decoupled pure U(1) gauge factors from the residual theory.

where r is the R-charge of the quarks, and the mesonic Hilbert series for $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours is given by [37, 47]

$$H_{N_{c},N_{f}}^{U}(t,\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v},y;r) = \sum_{n_{1},\dots,n_{N_{c}}\geq 0} [0^{N_{f}-N_{c}-1}, n_{N_{c}},\dots, n_{1};n_{1},\dots,n_{N_{c}},0^{N_{f}-N_{c}-1}]_{\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}}(t^{r}y)^{2\sum_{j=1}^{N_{c}}jn_{j}}$$
(2.9)

with y the fugacity for the U(1) axial symmetry, and P is the *R*-charge of the basic monopole operators:

$$P = N_f(1-r) - (N_c - 1) . (2.10)$$

The moduli space is generated by X^+ , X^- and the $N_f \times N_f$ meson matrix M, subject to the following relations

$$\epsilon^{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{N_f}} \epsilon_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_{N_f}} M_{i_1}^{j_1} \cdots M_{i_{N_c+1}}^{j_{N_c+1}} = 0,$$

$$X^{\pm} \epsilon^{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{N_f}} \epsilon_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_{N_f}} M_{i_1}^{j_1} \cdots M_{i_{N_c}}^{j_{N_c}} = 0,$$

$$X^+ X^- \epsilon^{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{N_f}} \epsilon_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_{N_f}} M_{i_1}^{j_1} \cdots M_{i_{N_c-1}}^{j_{N_c-1}} = 0.$$
(2.11)

The first set of relations implies that the rank of M is at most N_c , the second set of relations implies that if $X^+ \neq 0$ or $X^- \neq 0$ the rank of M is at most $N_c - 1$, and the third set of relations implies that if both $X^+ \neq 0$ and $X^- \neq 0$ the rank of M is at most $N_c - 2$.

Theory *B*. The rank of the gauge group of each residual theory in theory A put a restriction on the rank of the mesons. Since the meson of theory *A* is mapped to *M* in theory *B*, we look at various possible rank of *M* here. Subsequently, we follow the argument of [5].

If we give M a vacuum expectation value (VEV) of rank N_c , the low energy theory consists of a $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge group with $N_f - N_c$ flavours. The latter has a dual description as the WZ theory with superpotential⁴ $-V^+V^- \det(q\tilde{q})$ ([3], (8.8)). Hence the effective superpotential of theory B in this case is

$$W'_B = -V^+ V^- \det(q\tilde{q}) + S^+ V^- + S^- V^+ .$$
(2.12)

The *F*-terms $\partial_{V^{\pm}}W'_B = 0$ imply that $S^{\mp} = V^{\mp} \det(q\tilde{q})$. On the other hand, the *F*-terms $\partial_{S^{\pm}}W'_B = 0$ imply that $V^{\mp} = 0$. Thus, $S^{\pm} = 0$ in the chiral ring. Since S^{\pm} are mapped to the basic monopole operators of theory *A*, this case corresponds to case 1 of theory *A*, in which the monopole fluxes $m_1 = m_{N_c} = 0$. Indeed, the Hilbert series of the space generated by an $N_f \times N_f$ matrix *M* such that $\operatorname{rank}(M) \leq N_c$ is equal to $H^U_{N_c,N_f}$.

On the other hand, if we give M a VEV of rank $N_c - 1$, the low energy theory consists of a U($N_f - N_c$) gauge group with $N_f - N_c + 1$ flavours. The latter has a low energy effective description as the WZ theory with superpotential $-2(V^+V^- \det(q\tilde{q}))^{1/2}$ (see (8.6) and the

⁴Suppose that the *R*-charges of q and \tilde{q} are $R[q] = R[\tilde{q}] = R$. In an effective theory of $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge group with $N_f - N_c - p$ flavours, we have $R[V^{\pm}] = (N_f - N_c - p)(1 - R) - (N_f - N_c - 1)$ and $R[\det(q\tilde{q})] = 2R(N_f - N_c - p)$. Hence, the combination $V^+V^- \det(q\tilde{q})$ has *R*-charge 2(1 - p).

discussion just above (8.7) of [3]), which is valid away from the origin where $V^+ = V^- = 0$. The effective superpotential of theory B is therefore

$$W_B'' = -2(V^+V^-\det(q\tilde{q}))^{1/2} + S^+V^- + S^-V^+ .$$
(2.13)

The *F*-terms $\partial_{S^{\pm}} W_B'' = 0$ imply that $V^{\pm} = 0$, i.e. the Coulomb branch of theory *B* is lifted. The case in which $S^{\pm} = 0$ corresponds to case 1 of theory *A*. Away from the origin, the *F*-terms $\partial_{V^{\pm}} W_B'' = 0$ imply that

$$- (V^+ V^- \det(q\tilde{q}))^{-1/2} V^{\mp} \det(q\tilde{q}) + S^{\mp} = 0, \qquad (2.14)$$

or equivalently

$$S^{\pm} = (V^{\pm} \det(q\tilde{q}))^{1/2} (V^{\mp})^{-1/2} .$$
(2.15)

We see that S^{\pm} can take arbitrary values. The case in which $S^{+} \neq 0$ or $S^{-} \neq 0$ corresponds to cases 2 and 3 of theory A in which the monopole fluxes $m_1 > 0$, $m_{N_c} = 0$ or $m_1 = 0$, $m_{N_c} < 0$. The Hilbert series of these cases corresponds to the second and the third term in the first line of (2.8).

If M is given a VEV of rank $N_c - 2$, the low energy theory consists of a $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge group with $N_f - N_c + 2$ flavours. The effective superpotential of theory B is $W_B''' = -3(V^+V^- \det(q\tilde{q}))^{1/3} + S^+V^- + S^-V^+$. The F-terms $\partial_{S^{\pm}}W_B'' = 0$ imply that $V^{\pm} = 0$. The case in which $S^{\pm} = 0$ corresponds to case 1 of theory A. Away from the origin, using the F-terms $\partial_{V^{\pm}}W_B'' = 0$, we find that $S^{\pm} = \left(\frac{\det(q\tilde{q})V^{\pm}}{(V^{\pm})^2}\right)^{1/3}$. Substituting these back to W_B''' , we obtain the effective superpotential $W_B''' = -(V^+V^- \det(q\tilde{q}))^{1/3}$. Hence, S^{\pm} can take arbitrary values. Again, the case in which $S^+ \neq 0$ or $S^- \neq 0$ corresponds to case 2 and 3 of theory A. The case in which both S^+ and S^- are non-zero corresponds to case 4 of theory A, in which $m_1 \neq 0$ and $m_{N_c} \neq 0$. The Hilbert series of the latter case corresponds to the second line of (2.8).

If the VEV of M has rank greater than N_c , say rank $(M) = N_c + p$ with p > 0, the low energy theory consists of a $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge group with $N_f - N_c - p$ flavours.⁵ We will see that there is no stable supersymmetric vacuum for any p > 0.

• If p > 1, from ([3], (8.6)), the effective superpotential is $(p-1)(V^+V^-\det(q\widetilde{q}))^{-\frac{1}{p-1}}$, and for the superpotential

$$W'_B = (p-1)(V^+V^-\det(q\tilde{q}))^{-\frac{1}{p-1}} + S^+V^- + S^-V^+ .$$
 (2.16)

Using the equations of motion, we obtain

$$W'_B \sim \left(\frac{S^+ S^-}{\det(q\widetilde{q})}\right)^{\frac{1}{p+1}} \tag{2.17}$$

and so we have runaway vacua in this case.

⁵Let $R[q] = R[\tilde{q}] = r$. Then $R[V^{\pm}] = (N_f - N_c - p)(1 - r) - (N_f - N_c - 1)$ and $R[\det(q\tilde{q})] = 2r(N_f - N_c - p)$, and so the combination $V^+V^- \det(q\tilde{q})$ has *R*-charge 2(1 - p).

• If p = 1, according to [3], this theory is described by the relation $V^+V^- \det(q\tilde{q}) = 1$. The effective superpotential of theory B is therefore

$$W'_B = \lambda (V^+ V^- \det(q\tilde{q}) - 1) + S^+ V^- + S^- V^+, \qquad (2.18)$$

where λ is a Lagrange multiplier. Using the equations of motion, we can rewrite W'_B as $W'_B \sim \left(\frac{S^+S^-}{\det(q\tilde{q})}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, and so we also have runaway vacua.

2.2.2 The duality involving $W = X^+ + X^-$

Let us consider the following pair of theories [35]:

Theory A: $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours and

$$W_A = X^+ + X^- . (2.19)$$

Theory B: U($N_f - N_c - 2$) gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets M and superpotential

$$W_B = M\tilde{q}q + \hat{X}^+ + \hat{X}^- . \qquad (2.20)$$

In theory A, the flux of the monopole operator takes the following form $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, 0, \ldots, 0, m_{N_c})$ with $m_1 \ge 0 \ge m_{N_c}$. Here X^+ denotes the monopole with the flux $(1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ and X^- denotes the monopole with the flux $(0, \ldots, 0, -1)$. The presence of X^{\pm} as the linear terms in the superpotential W_A sets $X^{\pm} = 0$. Hence, all monopole operators vanish in the chiral ring. The Hilbert series of theory A is therefore the mesonic Hilbert series of $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours and zero superpotential:

$$H^{(A)} = H^{U}_{N_c,N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}; r), \qquad (2.21)$$

where the *R*-charge r of the quarks fixed by the superpotential W_A :

$$N_f(1-r) - (N_c - 1) = R[X_{\pm}] = 2 \quad \Rightarrow \quad r = 1 - (N_c + 1)/N_f .$$
 (2.22)

and the expression for $H^U_{N_c,N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}; r)$ is given by (2.9). Here there is no fugacity y because the U(1) axial symmetry is completely broken.

We compute the Hilbert series of theory B as follows. We first perform the Aharony dual to theory B and obtain

Theory B': U($N_c + 2$) gauge theory with N_f flavours \mathfrak{q} and $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}$, two singlets \hat{X}^{\pm} and superpotential

$$W_{B'} = \hat{X}^+ V^- + \hat{X}^- V^+ + \hat{X}^+ + \hat{X}^-, \qquad (2.23)$$

where V^{\pm} are the basic monopoles in theory B'. The F-terms $\partial_{\widehat{X}^{\pm}} W_{B'} = 0$ gives

$$V^{\mp} = -1 \ . \tag{2.24}$$

This means that the monopole operators have non-zero fluxes $(\hat{m}_1, 0, \dots, \hat{m}_{N_c+2})$ with $\hat{m}_1 \neq \hat{m}_{N_c+2} \neq 0$. Thus, the gauge group $U(N_c+2)$ is broken to $U(N_c) \times U(1)^2$. Moreover,

writing $V^{\pm} = e^{z_{\pm}}$ and considering the *F*-terms $\partial_{z_{\pm}}W_{B'} = 0$, we find that $\widehat{X}^{\pm}V^{\mp} = 0$. From (2.24), we find that

$$\hat{X}^{\pm} = 0,$$
 (2.25)

i.e. \widehat{X}^{\pm} vanish in the chiral ring. Thus, the residual theory is $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours and zero superpotential. The *R*-charge *R* of the flavour fields \mathfrak{q} and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{q}}$ in theory *B'* is given by

$$N_f(1-R) - (N_c + 2 - 1) = R[V^{\pm}] = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad R = 1 - (N_c + 1)/N_f = r .$$
 (2.26)

Indeed, the Hilbert series of theory B, which is dual to theory B', is given by

$$H^{(B)} = H^{U}_{N_c,N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}; r = 1 - (N_c + 1)/N_f) = H^{(A)} .$$
(2.27)

2.2.3 The duality involving $W = X^-$

Let us now consider the following pair of theories [35]:

Theory A: U(N_c) gauge theory with N_f flavours Q and \widetilde{Q} and $W = X^{-}$.

Theory B: U($N_f - N_c - 1$) gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets M, singlet S^+ and superpotential $W = M\tilde{q}q + \hat{X}^+ + \hat{X}^-S^+$, where \hat{X}^{\pm} are the basic monopoles in theory B, and S^+ is dual to the monopole X^+ in theory A.

The first observation is that the monopoles in both theories do not appear in the superpotential in a symmetric way, thus the charge conjugation is broken. Moreover, the U(1) topological symmetry and the U(1) axial symmetry are broken to a diagonal subgroup which we shall henceforth refer to as $U(1)_{T'}$. As a consequence we need to slightly modify the expression for the monopole *R*-charge.

Theory *A***.** Let us consider theory *A* and define

$$R = \frac{1}{2}(R[Q] + R[\tilde{Q}]) .$$
 (2.28)

The *R*-charges of the X^{\pm} are given by

$$R[X^{-}] - \alpha = N_f(1 - R) - (N_c - 1)$$

$$R[X^{+}] + \alpha = N_f(1 - R) - (N_c - 1),$$
(2.29)

where α parametrizes the mixing of the *R*-charge and the U(1)_{T'} symmetry. More explicitly, we consider the linear combination of the U(1)_R = U(1)_{R0} - α U(1)_{T'}, where U(1)_{R0} is the *R*-charge of X^{\pm} before mixing and $T'[X^{\pm}] = \pm 1$. Note also that this parametrisation is very similar to the one used in [33].⁶ We shall soon show that this parametrisation is consistent with the proposed duality.

⁶On page 9 of [33], the authors studied the U(1) gauge theory with 2 flavours and the monopole superpotential $V^+ + \mathcal{X}_1 V^-$, where \mathcal{X}_1 is a neutral chiral multiplet under the U(1) gauge group. To avoid a potential confusion with the notation in this paper, let us denote by *a* here the notation α on pages 8 and 9 of [33]. From ([33], (2.8)), the *R*-charges of quarks and antiquarks are given by $\frac{1-a}{2}$. The *R*-charges of the monopole operators V^{\pm} can be parametrised precisely as in (2.29) as $R[V^+] = 2 = 2\left(1 - \frac{1-a}{2}\right) - \alpha$ and $R[V^-] = 2\left(1 - \frac{1-a}{2}\right) + \alpha$. Solving these two equations, we see that $\alpha = -1 + a$ and $R[V^-] = 2a$; hence $R[\mathcal{X}_1] = 2 - R[V^-] = 2 - 2a$ in accordance with the discussion on page 9 of [33].

The superpotential fixes the *R*-charge of X^- to be $R[X^-] = 2$, and so

$$N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 1) + \alpha = 2, \qquad (2.30)$$

from which we get R

$$R = \frac{N_f - N_c - 1 + \alpha}{N_f},\tag{2.31}$$

so the meson has R-charge

$$2R = \frac{2(N_f - N_c - 1 + \alpha)}{N_f} \ . \tag{2.32}$$

Now let us turn our attention to the Hilbert series. However, we still have the Coulomb branch generated by the basic monopole operator X^+ . Hence, to compute the Hilbert series we can use a similar argument to that of [22]. We have two cases to analyse:

• $m_1 = 0$: with residual theory $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours and W = 0. The Hilbert series is

$$H_{I}^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) = H_{N_{c}, N_{f}}^{U}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R), \qquad (2.33)$$

where z is the fugacity for the $U(1)_{T'}$ symmetry.

• $m_1 > 0$: with residual theory $U(N_c - 1)$ with N_f flavours and W = 0. The Hilbert series is given by

$$H_{II}^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) = \sum_{m_1=1}^{+\infty} t^{m_1 R[X^+]} z^{m_1 T'[X^+]} H_{N_c-1, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R),$$
(2.34)

where z^x is the fugacity for the monopole operator X^+ with flux (1, 0, ..., 0). The sum gives

$$\sum_{m_1=1}^{+\infty} \left(t^{[N_f(1-R)-(N_c-1)]} z^x \right)^{m_1} = \frac{t^{[N_f(1-R)-(N_c-1)]} z^x}{1 - t^{[N_f(1-R)-(N_c-1)]} z^x}.$$
 (2.35)

Thus, the Hilbert series of theory A reads

$$H^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) = (H_{I}^{(A)} + H_{II}^{(A)})(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R)$$

$$= H_{N_{c}, N_{f}}^{U}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) + \frac{t^{[N_{f}(1-R) - (N_{c}-1)]} z^{x}}{1 - t^{[N_{f}(1-R) - (N_{c}-2)]} z^{x}} H_{N_{c}-1, N_{f}}^{U}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) .$$
(2.36)

Theory B. Let us analyze now the theory B. As we did for theory A, let us define

$$r = \frac{1}{2}(R[q] + R[\tilde{q}]) .$$
 (2.37)

For the monopoles, we parametrises by β the mixing of the *R*-charge and the U(1)_{T'} symmetry and obtain

$$R[\hat{X}^{-}] + \beta = N_f(1-r) - (N_f - N_c - 2)$$
(2.38)

$$R[\widehat{X}^+] - \beta = N_f(1-r) - (N_f - N_c - 2).$$
(2.39)

The superpotential imposes $R[\widehat{X}^+] = 2$, from which we get r

$$r = \frac{N_c + \beta}{N_f}.$$
(2.40)

Using this expression for r we find

$$R[\hat{X}^{-}] = 2(1-\beta), \qquad (2.41)$$

and also that

$$R[S^+] = 2 - R[\widehat{X}^-] = 2\beta.$$
(2.42)

For the singlets M we find

$$R[M] = 2 - 2r = \frac{2(N_f - N_c - \beta)}{N_f}.$$
(2.43)

Let us now relate the *R*-charges of various fields in theory *A* to those in theory *B*. In theory *B*, both \hat{X}^+ and \hat{X}^- vanish in the chiral ring. The former is due to the presence of \hat{X}^+ in the superpotential, whereas the latter follows from $\partial_{S^+}W = 0$. Moreover, X^- in theory *A* and \hat{X}^+ in theory *B* both have *R*-charge 2 due to the superpotentials. We thus propose the following duality maps:

Theory
$$A$$
 Theory B
 $X^+ \longleftrightarrow S^+,$ (2.44)
mesons $\longleftrightarrow M.$

Due to the term $M\tilde{q}q$ in the superpotential, we also have

$$R = 1 - r . (2.45)$$

The map between the mesons and M implies that

$$\frac{2(N_f - N_c - 1 + \alpha)}{N_f} = \frac{2(N_f - N_c - \beta)}{N_f} \implies \alpha = 1 - \beta .$$

$$(2.46)$$

Equating $R[X^+] = R[S^+]$ and using (2.40), (2.42), we find that⁷

$$\beta = rN_f - N_c = N_f(1-R) - N_c , \qquad R[S^+] = 2[N_f(1-R) - N_c] . \qquad (2.47)$$

Using (2.46) and (2.47), we find that $N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 1) + \alpha = 2$, which is consistent with (2.30). This shows that our choice of parametrisation of the mixing between $U(1)_R$ and $U(1)_{T'}$ is consistent with the proposed duality.

In order to study the moduli space of theory B, we consider its Aharony dual, which is given by

⁷Let us compare the charge assignment here with that in [35]. In the latter, R[Q] and $R[\tilde{Q}]$ are chosen to be $R = \frac{N_f - N_c}{2N_f}$ and so $R[S^+] = N_f - N_c$.

Theory B': $U(N_c + 1)$ with N_f flavours and singlets \hat{X}^{\pm} and S^+ with superpotential $W_{B'} = \hat{X}^+ V^- + \hat{X}^- V^+ + \hat{X}^- S^+$, where V^{\pm} are the basic monopole operators in this theory.

Consider first the F-terms obtained by differentiating with respect to the singlets:

$$\partial_{\widehat{X}^-} W_{B'} = 0 \implies V^+ = -S^+,$$

$$(2.48)$$

$$\partial_{S^+} W_{B'} = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \hat{X}^- = 0, \tag{2.49}$$

$$\partial_{\widehat{X}^+} W_{B'} = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad V^- = -1. \tag{2.50}$$

Plugging these equations into $W_{B'}$ we get

$$W_{B'} = 0. (2.51)$$

Observe the following (it will be needed later): $V^- = -1$ implies that the flux $m_{N_c+1} \neq 0$, hence the gauge group breaks to $U(N_c+1) \rightarrow U(N_c) \times U(1)$; moreover $V^+ = -S^+$ implies that we need to consider two cases for the computation of the Hilbert series, namely $S^+ = 0$ and $S^+ \neq 0$. We shall see below that these correspond to the cases of $m_1 = 0$ and $m_1 \neq 0$ in the theory A, namely (2.33) and (2.34) respectively.

Let us turn our attention to the *R*-charges. Let \mathfrak{q} and $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}$ be the fundamentals and antifundamentals of theory B'. Let us also define $R_{B'} = \frac{1}{2}(R[\mathfrak{q}] + R[\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}])$. The superpotential $W_{B'}$ fixes the *R*-charge of \hat{X}^+ to be $R[\hat{X}^+] = 2$, and so $R[V^-] = 0$.

The *R*-charges of the monopole operators V^{\pm} of theory B' is given by

$$R[V^+] = N_f (1 - R_{B'}) - N_c + \gamma \tag{2.52}$$

$$R[V^{-}] = N_f (1 - R_{B'}) - N_c - \gamma = 0.$$
(2.53)

where γ parametrise the mixing between the U(1) *R*-symmetry and the U(1)_{T'} symmetry. We thus have

$$\begin{cases} N_f(1 - R_{B'}) - N_c - \gamma = R[V^-] = 0, \\ N_f(1 - R_{B'}) - N_c + \gamma = R[V^+] \stackrel{(2.48)}{=} R[S^+] \stackrel{(2.47)}{=} 2[N_f(1 - R) - N_c]. \end{cases}$$
(2.54)

The solution for $R_{B'}$ reads

$$R_{B'} = R \,, \tag{2.55}$$

and so

$$\gamma = 1 - \alpha \ . \tag{2.56}$$

Hence, the *R*-charge of the mesons in this theory is $R[M] = 2R_{B'} = 2R$, which perfectly match with the *R*-charge of the singlets *M* in theory *B*.

Now we are ready to compute the Hilbert series. As we said, we have two cases: for $S^+ = 0$ we have $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours and $W_{B'} = 0$, so

$$H_{I}^{(B')}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}) = H_{N_{c}, N_{f}}^{U}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}).$$
(2.57)

When $S^+ \neq 0$ the gauge group breaks to $U(N_c - 1)$ with a dressing factor due to the presence of V^+ ; thus the Hilbert series is

$$H_{II}^{(B')}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}) = \sum_{m_1=1}^{+\infty} t^{m_1 R[V^+]} z^{m_1 T'[V^+]} H_{N_c-1, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}),$$
(2.58)

again, as theory A we find

$$H_{II}^{(B')}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}) = \frac{t^{[N_f(1-R_{B'})-(N_c-1)]} z^x}{1 - t^{[N_f(1-R_{B'})-(N_c-2)]} z^x} H_{N_c-1, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}).$$
(2.59)

Indeed, the Hilbert series of theory B', dual to B, reads

$$\begin{aligned}
H^{(B)} &= H^{(B')} \\
&= (H_I^{(B')} + H_{II}^{(B')})(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}) \\
&= H_{N_c, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}) + \frac{t^{[N_f(1 - R_{B'}) - (N_c - 1)]} z^x}{1 - t^{[N_f(1 - R_{B'}) - (N_c - 2)]} z^x} H_{N_c - 1, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R_{B'}) \\
&= H^{(A)}.
\end{aligned}$$
(2.60)

Note that this expression matches with $H^{(A)}$ since $R_{B'} = R_B$.

2.2.4 The Giveon-Kutasov duality

In this subsection, we consider the following there [48]:

Theory A: $U(N_c)_k$ gauge theory with N_f flavours and W = 0.

Theory B: $U(N_f + |k| - N_c)_{-k}$ gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets M, and superpotential $W = M\tilde{q}q$.

For simplicity, let us assume that k > 0 and that $N_f + |k| - N_c \ge 0$. As pointed out in ([39], section 3.3), the Coulomb branch is completely lifted and the full Hilbert series of theory A is the mesonic Hilbert series of $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours:

$$H^{(A)} = H^{U}_{N_{c},N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r)$$

=
$$\sum_{n_{1},\dots,n_{N_{c}} \ge 0} [0^{N_{f}-N_{c}-1}, n_{N_{c}}, \dots, n_{1}; n_{1},\dots, n_{N_{c}}, 0^{N_{f}-N_{c}-1}]_{\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}}(t^{r}y)^{2\sum_{j=1}^{N_{c}} jn_{j}} .$$
(2.61)

This Hilbert series corresponds to the space generated by the mesons, which can be regarded as an $N_f \times N_f$ matrix, subject to the condition that the rank is at most N_c .

In theory B, the Coulomb branch is also lifted. The moduli space is generated by $N_f \times N_f$ matrix M. We shall argue that there is a quantum condition on the rank of M: rank $(M) \leq N_c$ (this is the classical condition of the meson in theory A). This can be seen as follows: If we give a VEV to M of rank greater than N_c , say $N_c + p$ with p > 0, then the lower energy theory is $U(N_f + |k| - N_c)_{-k}$ gauge theory with $N_f - N_c - p$ flavours;

this can be described by the effective superpotential⁸ $W \sim (V^+ V^- \det q \tilde{q})^{\frac{1}{-p-|k|+1}}$, where V^{\pm} is the basic monopole operators in this low energy effective theory. Since p > 0 and |k| > 0, we have runaway vacua. We just matched the moduli space of theory B with that of theory A. Thus, the Hilbert series of theory B is also given by (2.61).

2.2.5 The Benini-Closset-Cremonesi (BCC) [p, 0]a duality

We consider the following theories [20]:

Theory A: $U(N_c)_k$ gauge theory with N_f fundamentals and N_a antifundamentals such that $N_f > N_a$, $k = -\frac{1}{2}(N_f - N_a)$ and W = 0.

Theory B: $U(N_f - N_c)_{-k}$ gauge theory with N_a fundamentals, N_f antifundamentals, $N_f N_a$ singlets M, a singlet S, and superpotential $W = M\tilde{q}q + S\hat{X}^+$, where \hat{X}^+ is a basic monopole operator in theory B with topological charge +1.

In theory A, the U(1) gauge charges of the basic monopole operators X^{\pm} are

$$\mp \left[k \pm \frac{1}{2} (N_f - N_a) \right] = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } X^+ \\ -(N_f - N_a) & \text{for } X^- \end{cases}$$
(2.62)

Hence, the Coulomb branch that is generated by X^- is lifted. In theory B, the F-term $\partial_S W = 0$ implies that \hat{X}^+ vanishes in the chiral ring. We propose the following duality map:

Theory
$$A$$
 Theory B
 $X^+ \longleftrightarrow S$, (2.63)
mesons $\longleftrightarrow M$.

Let us discuss about the R-charges of various fields. The R-charge of the basic monopole operators in theory A is

$$R[X^{\pm}] = \frac{1}{2}N_f(1-r) + \frac{1}{2}N_a(1-r) - (N_c - 1), \qquad (2.64)$$

where r is the R-charge of the quarks in theory A. Since X^+ is mapped to S under the duality, we have

$$R[S] = R[X^{\pm}] = \frac{1}{2}N_f(1-r) + \frac{1}{2}N_a(1-r) - (N_c - 1) . \qquad (2.65)$$

Since the mesons of theory A are mapped to M in theory B, we have

$$R[q] = R[\tilde{q}] = 1 - r, \qquad (2.66)$$

and so the monopole V^+ of theory *B* has *R*-charge

$$R[V^+] = \frac{1}{2}(N_f - N_a) + \frac{1}{2}N_f r + \frac{1}{2}N_a r - (N_f - N_c - 1), \qquad (2.67)$$

⁸Note that q and \tilde{q} have R-charge 1-r, where r is the R-charge for the electric quarks. Hence, $\det q\tilde{q}$ has R-charge $2(1-r)(N_f - N_c - p)$. Also, V^{\pm} have R-charge $(N_f - N_c - p)r - (N_f + |k| - N_c - 1)$. Indeed, $(V_+V_- \det q\tilde{q})^{\frac{1}{-p-|k|+1}}$ has R-charge 2.

where the blue term comes from the mixed gauge-R symmetry CS terms; see ([49], (4.4)). Indeed,

$$R[S] + R[\hat{X}^+] = 2 ; \qquad (2.68)$$

this is compatible with the superpotential term $S\hat{X}^+$ in theory B.

Theory A. Since the Coulomb branch that is generated by X^- is lifted in theory A, the monopole flux thus takes the form $(m_1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ with $m_1 \ge 0$.

• If $m_1 = 0$, the residual theory is $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f fundamentals and N_a antifundamentals, whose mesonic Hilbert series is

$$H_{N_c,N_f,N_a}^{\text{mes}}(t,\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v},y;r) = \sum_{n_1,\dots,n_{N_c}\geq 0} [0^{N_f-N_c}, n_{N_c},\dots,n_1; n_1,\dots,n_{N_c}, 0^{N_a-N_c}]_{\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v}}(t^r y)^{\sum_{j=1}^{N_c} jn_j} .$$
(2.69)

The mesonic chiral ring is generated by the $N_a \times N_f$ meson matrix $M_a^{\tilde{a}} = \tilde{Q}_i^{\tilde{a}} Q_a^i$ of rank at most N_c .

• If $m_1 \neq 0$, the residual theory is $U(N_c - 1)$ gauge theory with N_f fundamentals and N_a antifundamentals. The mesons in this theory is to be dressed with the monopole operators generated by X^+ . The Hilbert series in this case is

$$H_{N_c-1,N_f,N_a}^{\text{mes}}(t,\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v},y;r)\sum_{m_1=1}^{\infty} (a_+)^{m_1} = \frac{a_+}{1-a_+}H_{N_c-1,N_f,N_a}^{\text{mes}}(t,\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v},y;r), \quad (2.70)$$

where

$$a_{+} = zt^{\frac{1}{2}(N_{f}+N_{a})(1-r)-(N_{c}-1)}y^{-k_{gA}-\frac{1}{2}(N_{f}+N_{a})} .$$
(2.71)

Here z is the fugacity for the topological symmetry, y is the fugacity for the axial symmetry, and k_{gA} is the mixed Chern-Simons level between the central gauge U(1) and the axial U(1)_A symmetry, which is quantized to ensure that the exponent of y is an integer.

The full Hilbert series of theory A is therefore

$$H^{(A)} = H_{N_c,N_f,N_a}^{\text{mes}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r) + \frac{a_+}{1 - a_+} H_{N_c - 1,N_f,N_a}^{\text{mes}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, y; r), \qquad (2.72)$$

The chiral ring of the theory is generated by the $N_a \times N_f$ meson matrix M, of rank at most N_c , and by the bare monopole operators X^+ subject to the extra relation that the rank of X^+M is at most $N_c - 1$, i.e. X^+ minor $_{N_c}(M) = 0$.

Theory B. Now let us consider theory B. The U(1) gauge charges of the basic monopole operators V^{\pm} are

$$\mp \left[-k \pm \frac{1}{2} (N_a - N_f) \right] = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } \widehat{X}^+ \\ N_f - N_a & \text{for } \widehat{X}^- \end{cases}$$
(2.73)

Hence \hat{X}^- is not in the chiral ring and the Coulomb branch parametrised by \hat{X}^- is lifted. There are quantum conditions that give bounds on the rank of M. These correspond to the classical conditions for the rank of the mesons in theory A. We can derive such quantum conditions below.

Since the *F*-terms with respect to *S* implies that \widehat{X}^+ vanishes in the chiral ring. The moduli space of theory *B* is generated by the *M*. Therefore, after imposing such quantum conditions on *M*, we conclude that the Hilbert series of theory *B* is equal to that of theory *A*.

Let us turn on a VEV of M with rank $N_c + p$. The low energy theory is described by $U(N_f - N_c)_{-k}$ gauge theory with $N_a - N_c - p$ fundamentals and $N_f - N_c - p$ antifundamentals. We can use the topological and axial symmetries to constraint the form of the effective superpotential. We claim that the only possible consistent combination that can appear in the effective superpotential is

$$W'_B = (S\widehat{X}^+)^P \tag{2.74}$$

for some power P, which can be worked out from the R-charges of S and \hat{X}^+ as follows. Since the singlets M are mapped to the mesons in theory A, for p < 0, the gauge group $U(N_c)$ of theory A is broken to U(|p|). On the other hand, for $p \ge 0$, $U(N_c)$ is completely broken. Since S is mapped to the monopole operator X^+ , the R-charges of S is given as follows:

$$R[S] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}(N_a - N_c - p)r + \frac{1}{2}(N_f - N_c - p)r - (-p - 1), & p \le -1\\ \frac{1}{2}(N_a - N_c - p)r + \frac{1}{2}(N_f - N_c - p)r, & p \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.75)

where the *R*-charges of the magnetic quarks are 1 - r. The *R*-charges of \widehat{X}^+ can be computed as usual

$$R[\widehat{X}^{+}] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(N_f - N_c - p) - (N_a - N_c - p) \right] + \frac{1}{2} (N_f - N_c - p)r + \frac{1}{2} (N_a - N_c - p)r - (N_f - N_c - 1) \right]$$
(2.76)

For $p \leq -1$, we see that $R[S] + R[\widehat{X}^+] = 2$. For $p \geq 0$, we have $R[S] + R[\widehat{X}^+] = 1 - p$. Hence, the power P is 1 for $p \leq -1$ and $\frac{2}{1-p}$ for $p \geq 0$:

$$W'_B = \begin{cases} S\widehat{X}^+, & p \le -1\\ (S\widehat{X}^+)^{\frac{2}{1-p}}, & p \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.77)

For $p \ge 1$, we have runaway vacua. This agrees with the analysis of the theory A, which says that the mesons have rank at most N_c .

For $p \leq 0$, we have a positive power of $S\hat{X}^+$ in the superpotential. If $\hat{X}^+ \neq 0$, we have S = 0 and this corresponds to the case of $m_1 = 0$ in theory A. If $\hat{X}^+ = 0$, then the value of S is arbitrary; when $S \neq 0$, this corresponds to the case of $m_1 \neq 0$. This is in agreement with theory A.

2.2.6 The duality involving $W = X^-$, chiral flavours and Chern-Simons terms Let us consider the following theories [35]:

Theory A: $U(N_c)_{\frac{k}{2}}$ with k > 0 and $(N_f, N_a = N_f - k)$ fund/antifund and $W = X^-$.

Theory B: U($N_f - N_c - 1$)_{-k/2} with ($N_f, N_a = N_f - k$) fund/antifund, $N_f N_a$ singlets and superpotential $W = \widehat{X}^+ + \sum_i^{N_f} \sum_j^{N_a} M^i{}_j \widetilde{q}_i q^j$.

In theory A the U(1) gauge charge of the monopoles are given by

$$\mp \left[\frac{k}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}(N_f - N_a)\right] = \begin{cases} -k & \text{for } X^+ \\ 0 & \text{for } X^- \end{cases}$$
(2.78)

Thus, the Coulomb branch generated by X^+ is lifted due to the non-zero Chern-Simons level. However, by putting X^- in the superpotential, we can write $X^- = e^{Z^-}$ and the *F*term with respect to Z^- implies that X^- vanishes in the chiral ring. Thus, the Coulomb branch generated by X^- is also lifted. The residual theory is the full $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with (N_f, N_a) fund/antifund flavours, whose mesonic Hilbert series is given by

$$H^{(A)} = H_{N_c,N_f,N_a}^{\text{mes}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}; R) = \sum_{n_1,\dots,n_{N_c} \ge 0} [0^{N_f - N_c}, n_{N_c}, \dots, n_1; n_1, \dots, n_{N_c}, 0^{N_a - N_c}]_{\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}}(t^R)^{2\sum_j jn_j},$$
(2.79)

where observe that there is no fugacity for the axial symmetry since it is broken by the presence of X^- in the superpotential. The *R*-charge *R* of the quarks and antiquarks are fixed by the monopole superpotential:

$$2 = \frac{1}{2}N_f(1-R) + \frac{1}{2}N_a(1-R) - (N_c - 1) \quad \Rightarrow \quad R = 1 - 2\frac{N_c + 1}{N_a + N_f} .$$
(2.80)

The generators of the mesonic chiral ring are the mesons, which are matrix $N_f \times N_a$ of rank at most N_c .

In theory *B* the Coulomb branch is lifted for the same reason of theory *A* (i.e. due to both the non-zero Chern-Simons level and the monopole superpotential). The moduli space is generated by the singlets *M*, which can be viewed as an $N_f \times N_a$ matrices. We shall argue that there is a quantum condition on the rank of *M*: rank(*M*) $\leq N_c$ (this is the classical condition of the meson in theory *A*). Let us give a VEV to *M* with rank $N_c + p$ with p > 0. The low energy effective theory is a $U(N_f - N_c - 1)_{-k/2}$ gauge theory with $(N'_f = N_f - N_c - p, N'_a = N_f - k - N_c - p)$ fund/antifund. At this step, we can use the BCC duality to obtain the dual theory. Since the dual gauge group is the unitary group of rank $N'_f - (N_f - N_c - 1) = -p + 1$, we see that for p > 1, supersymmetry is broken. For p = 1, the dual theory is a WZ model with singlets *S* and \hat{X}^+ with superpotential $W = S\hat{X}^+$. In which case the effective superpotential for theory *B* is

$$W'_B = \hat{X}^+ + S\hat{X}^+,$$
 (2.81)

where the first term of W'_B comes from the first term of the original superpotential of theory B. The equations of motion imply that both S and X^+ are massive and we do not have a supersymmetric vacuum.

2.2.7 The Aharony duality for symplectic gauge groups

We consider the following duality, which was proposed in [5]:

Theory A: USp $(2N_c)$ with $2N_f$ fundamental chirals Q_i and superpotential W = 0.

Theory B: USp $(2(N_f - N_c - 1))$ with $2N_f$ fundamental chirals q_i , $N_f(2N_f - 1)$ singlets M and singlet Y (that are dual to the mesons and the monopole of theory A) and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}S$, where \hat{Y} is the fundamental monopole of theory B.

Let us fist study *R*-charges of various fields. In theory *A*, let the *R*-charge of the fundamentals be R[Q] = R, so that the monopole operator have the $R[Y] = 2N_f(1-R) - 2N_c$. Since the mesons in theory *A* are mapped to *M* in theory *B*, the superpotential in theory *B* gives $R[q] \equiv 1 - R$, and so $R[\widehat{Y}] = 2N_fR - 2(N_f - N_c - 1)$. Thus, by the superpotential it follows that the *R*-charge of the singlet *S* is $R[S] = 2 - R[\widehat{Y}] = 2 - 2N_fR + 2(N_f - N_c - 1) = 2N_f(1-R) - 2N_c = R[Y]$. Indeed, this is consistent with the expectation that the monopole operator *Y* in theory *A* is mapped to the singlet *S* in theory *B* under the duality.

Theory *A*. In the following we discuss the Hilbert series of theory *A*. This has been analysed in detail in section 6 of [37]. It has two contributions, depending on the value of the magnetic charge *m* in the magnetic flux $(m, 0^{N_c-1})$:

• m = 0: the residual theory is $USp(2N_c)$ with $2N_f$ fundamentals, whose mesonic Hilbert series reads [50]:

$$H^{I(A)}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = H^{USp}_{2N_c, 2N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$$

$$= \sum_{n_2, n_4, \dots, n_{2N_c}} [0, n_2, 0, n_4, \dots, 0, n_{2N_c}, 0^{2(N_f - N_c) - 1}]_{\boldsymbol{x}} (t^R y)^{2\sum_{j=1}^{N_c} j n_{2j}}.$$
(2.82)

• m > 0: the residual theory is $USp(2(N_c - 1))$ with $2N_f$ fundamentals; since now the magnetic flux is non vanishing the Hilbert series contains a dressing factor taking into account of the monopole Y^m with flux $(m, 0^{N_c-1})$ such that $m \ge 1$:

$$\begin{split} H^{II(A)}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} t^{R[Y^m]} y^{A[Y^m]}\right) H^{USp}_{2(N_c-1),2N_f}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) \\ &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} t^{[2N_f(1-R)-2N_c]m} y^{-2N_fm}\right) H^{USp}_{2(N_c-1),2N_f}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) \\ &= \frac{t^{[2N_f(1-R)-2N_c]} y^{-2N_f}}{1-t^{[2N_f(1-R)-2N_c]} y^{-2N_f}} H^{USp}_{2(N_c-1),2N_f}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R), \end{split}$$
(2.83)

where y is the fugacity for the U(1) axial symmetry.

Thus the total Hilbert series of the theory is the given by adding the two contributions $H^{I(A)}$ and $H^{II(A)}$:

$$\begin{aligned} H^{(A)}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) &= (H^{I(A)} + H^{II(A)})(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) \\ &= H^{USp}_{2N_c,2N_f}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) + \frac{t^{[2N_f(1-R)-2N_c]}y^{-2N_f}}{1 - t^{[2N_f(1-R)-2N_c]}y^{-2N_f}} H^{USp}_{2N_c,2N_f}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.84)$$

The Hilbert series tells us that the moduli space is generated by the antisymmetric $2N_c \times 2N_c$ meson matrix M and by the fundamental monopole operator Y, subject to the condition:

$$\epsilon_{i_1 \cdots i_{2N_f}} M^{i_1 i_2} \cdots M^{i_{2N_c+1} i_{2N_c+2}} = 0,$$

$$Y \epsilon_{i_1 \cdots i_{2N_c}} M^{i_1 i_2} \cdots M^{i_{2N_c-1} i_{2N_c}} = 0.$$
(2.85)

Note that the first equality implies that the rank of M is at most $2N_c$. The second equality implies that for $Y \neq 0$, the rank of M is at most $2(N_c - 1)$.

Theory B. Let us now analyse the moduli space of theory B. Since the mesons are mapped to the singlets M, we give a VEV to M of rank $2(N_c + p)$ and study at the moduli space for various values of p. The low energy effective theory is a USp $(2(N_f - N_c - 1))$ gauge theory with $2(N_f - N_c - p)$ massless quarks.⁹ Below we analyse the possible cases of p. We shall see that, for p > 0, there is no stable supersymmetric vacua, whereas for $p \le 0$, the moduli space agrees with that of theory A.

• p < 0: The effective description away from the origin of the moduli space is given by the superpotential

$$W = \widehat{Y}S + (\widehat{Y}\operatorname{Pf}(qq))^{\frac{1}{1-p}}.$$
(2.86)

The equations of motion are the following

$$\partial_Y W = 0: \quad \dot{Y} = 0, \tag{2.87}$$

$$\partial_{\widehat{Y}}W = 0: \quad S + \frac{1}{1-p} \operatorname{Pf}(qq)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} \widehat{Y}^{\frac{p}{1-p}} = 0,$$
 (2.88)

Equation (2.87) implies that the Coulomb branch of theory B is completely lifted. Since the superpotential (2.86) is valid away from the origin, S can take any arbitrary VEV. According to this observation we can have the following two cases: The case of S = 0 corresponds to the magnetic flux m = 0 of the electric theory, where the corresponding Hilbert series is $H^{I(A)}$, and the case of $S \neq 0$ corresponds to m > 0, where the Hilbert series is equal to $H^{II(A)}$.

⁹In this theory, the *R*-charges of the monopole operator \widehat{Y} and $\operatorname{Pf}(qq)$ are

$$R[\widehat{Y}] = 2(N_f - N_c - p)R - (N_f - N_c - 1), \qquad R[Pf(qq)] = 2(1 - R)(N_f - N_c - p),$$

and so the combination $\widehat{Y}Pf(qq)$ has R-charge 2(1-p).

• p = 0: the effective superpotential of the form:

$$W = \widehat{Y}S - \widehat{Y}\mathrm{Pf}(qq). \tag{2.89}$$

The equations of motion for S and \widehat{Y} are

$$\partial_S W = 0: \quad \widehat{Y} = 0, \tag{2.90}$$

$$\partial_{\widehat{Y}}W = 0: \quad \widehat{Y}(S - \operatorname{Pf}(qq)) = 0, \tag{2.91}$$

whose solution is $S = \hat{Y} = Pf(qq) = 0$. Recalling that the singlet S is mapped to the basic monopole operator Y of theory A, this case correspond to the magnetic flux m = 0 in theory A, and hence the corresponding Hilbert series is $H^{I(A)}$.

• p = 1: In this case instantons in the low energy theory generate the constraint $\widehat{Y}Pf(qq) = 1$, which can be put in the superpotential through a Lagrange multiplier λ :

$$W = \widehat{Y}S + \lambda(\widehat{Y}\operatorname{Pf}(qq) - 1).$$
(2.92)

Using the solution for $\partial_{\lambda} W = 0$, we can rewrite the superpotential as follows

$$W = \frac{S}{\Pr(qq)},\tag{2.93}$$

so we have runway vacua.

• p > 1: The effective superpotential is given by

$$W = \widehat{Y}S + (\widehat{Y}\operatorname{Pf}(qq))^{\frac{1}{1-p}}.$$
(2.94)

The equation of motion for the basic monopole reads

$$\partial_{\widehat{Y}}W = 0: \quad \widehat{Y} = [(p-1)S]^{\frac{1-p}{p}} \mathrm{Pf}(qq)^{-\frac{1}{p}}.$$
 (2.95)

Substituting into the superpotential we get

$$W \sim \left(\frac{S}{\Pr(qq)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$
 (2.96)

and, again, we have runway vacua.

2.2.8 The duality involving symplectic gauge groups and W = Y We consider the following duality [21]:

Theory A: USp $(2N_c)$ with $2N_f$ fundamentals and superpotential W = Y.

Theory B: USp $(2(N_f - N_c - 2))$ with $2N_f$ fundamentals, $N_f(2N_f - 1)$ singlets M, and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}$.

In theory A, due to the presence of Y in the superpotential, the Coulomb branch is lifted and Y = 0 in the chiral ring. The Hilbert series thus get the mesonic contribution:

$$H^{(A)} = H^{USp}_{2N_c,2N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R), \qquad (2.97)$$

where R is the R-charge of the quarks. This means that the moduli space is generated by the mesons M, with the constraint rank $(M) \leq 2N_c$. The R-charge of the meson is fixed the presence of the monopole in the superpotential as usual, since R[Y] = 2 and is also given in terms of the R-charge of the quarks:

$$R[Y] = 2N_f(1-R) - 2N_c = 2, (2.98)$$

from which we get

$$R[M] = 2R = 2\frac{N_f - N_c - 1}{N_f}.$$
(2.99)

In theory B, the R-charge r of the fundamentals is fixed by the monopole superpotential term \hat{Y} , whose R-charge is 2:

$$R[\widehat{Y}] = 2 = 2N_f(1-r) - 2(N_f - N_c - 2) . \qquad (2.100)$$

Therefore, the R-charge of the singlets M is

$$R[M] = 2 - 2r = 2\frac{N_f - N_c - 1}{N_f}, \qquad (2.101)$$

in agreement with (2.99).

In order to analyse the moduli space of theory B, let us now perform the Aharony duality. We get a $\mathrm{USp}(2(N_c+1))$ gauge theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals, singlet S and superpotential $W' = S\hat{Y} + S$, where \hat{Y} are the basic monopoles of this theory. The F-terms $\partial_S W' = 0$ gives a non-zero VEV to the monopole $\hat{Y} = -1$. Since the vacuum expectation value of \hat{Y} is non-zero, the gauge group $\mathrm{USp}(2(N_c+1))$ is broken to $\mathrm{USp}(2N_c)$, with an additional U(1) factor which decouples in the IR. If we substitute back $\hat{Y} = -1$ to the superpotential, we end up with W = 0. Thus, the residual theory is a $\mathrm{USp}(2N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours, whose mesonic Hilbert series is given by $H^{USp}_{2N_c,2N_f}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R)$. This is indeed in agreement with the Hilbert series of theory A.

2.2.9 The BCC duality for orthogonal gauge groups

Let us consider the following duality [20, 51]:

Theory A: $O(N_c)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation and zero superpotential.

Theory B: O($N_f - N_c + 2$) with N_f chirals in the vector representation, $N_f(2N_f + 1)$ singlets M, a singlet S and superpotential $W = Mqq + S\hat{Y}$.

The R-charge of the monopole operator in theories with orthogonal gauge group reads

$$R[Y] = N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 2).$$
(2.102)

Theory A. The Coulomb branch is parametrized by the fundamental monopole operator Y. The magnetic flux $(m, 0^{n-1})$ (where n is given by $N_c = 2n$ for the even case and $N_c = 2n + 1$ for the odd case) of Y^m gives the following two contributions to the Hilbert series

• m = 0: the residual theory is $O(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours and, in this case, the Hilbert series is

$$H^{I(A)}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = H^{O}_{N_{c}, N_{f}}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R), \qquad (2.103)$$

where $H_{N_c,N_f}^O(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$ is the mesonic Hilbert series of the aforementioned residual theory. It can be obtained from that of the SO(N_c) gauge theory with N_f flavours ([50], (2.29)) by projecting out the baryons and reads:

$$H_{N_c,N_f}^O(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) =$$

$$= \sum_{n_1,n_2,\dots,n_{N_c}\geq 0} [2n_1,2n_2,\dots,2n_{N_c},0^{N_f-N_c-1}]_{\boldsymbol{x}}(t^R y)^{2\sum_{j=1}^{N_c}jn_j},$$
(2.104)

where y is the fugacity for the axial symmetry and x denotes the fugacities associated with the flavour symmetry $SU(N_f)$.

• m > 0: the residual theory is $O(N_c - 2)$ gauge theory¹⁰ with N_f flavours and, in this case, the Hilbert series is the mesonic contains a dressing factor taking into account of the monopole operators Y^m :

$$H^{II(A)}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = \left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} t^{R[Y^m]} y^{A[Y^m]}\right) H^{O}_{N_c - 2, N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$$
$$= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} t^{(N_f - N_c + 2 - N_f R)m} y^{-N_f m}\right) H^{O}_{N_c - 2, N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$$
$$= \frac{t^{(N_f - N_c + 2 - N_f R)} y^{-N_f}}{1 - t^{(N_f - N_c + 2 - N_f R)} y^{-N_f}} H^{O}_{N_c - 2, N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$$
(2.105)

Hence the Hilbert series of the theory reads

$$H^{(A)}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = (H^{I(A)} + H^{II(A)})(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$$

$$= H^{O}_{N_{c}, N_{f}}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) + \frac{t^{(N_{f} - N_{c} + 2 - N_{f}R)}y^{-N_{f}}}{1 - t^{(N_{f} - N_{c} + 2 - N_{f}R)}y^{-N_{f}}}H^{O}_{N_{c} - 2, N_{f}}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R).$$
(2.106)

The Hilbert series tells us that the moduli space of theory A is generated by the symmetric $N_f \times N_f$ meson matrix M and by the fundamental monopole Y, subject to the following relations

$$\epsilon^{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{N_f}} \epsilon^{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_{N_f}} M_{i_1 j_1} \cdots M_{i_{N_c+1} j_{N_c+1}} = 0,$$

$$Y \epsilon^{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_{N_f}} \epsilon^{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_{N_f}} M_{i_1 j_1} \cdots M_{i_{N_c-1} j_{N_c-1}} = 0.$$
(2.107)

The first relation implies that the mesons have at most rank N_c , while the second implies that, for $Y \neq 0$, M has at most rank $N_c - 2$.

¹⁰The gauge group $O(N_c)$ is actually broken to $O(N_c - 2) \times O(2)$, with O(2) decoupled.

Theory B. Since the mesons are mapped to the singlets M we give a VEV to M of rank $N_c + p$ and we study the moduli space for various p. The low energy effective theory is $O(N_f - N_c + 2)$ with $N_f - N_c - p$ massless quarks.¹¹ In the following analysis of the moduli space we shall see that for $p \ge 0$ there is no stable supersymmetric vacua, while for p < 0 the moduli space agrees with the one in theory A. Let us analyze the various cases we get depending on p:

•
$$p < 0$$
: the *F*-terms we get from the effective superpotential $W = S\widehat{Y} + (\widehat{Y}^2 \det(qq))^{-\frac{1}{p}}$ are

$$\partial_S W = 0: \quad \widehat{Y} = 0, \tag{2.108}$$

$$\partial_{\widehat{Y}}W = 0: \quad S = \frac{2}{p} (\det(qq))^{-\frac{1}{p}} \widehat{Y}^{-\frac{p+2}{p}}.$$
 (2.109)

The first of these equations implies that the Coulomb branch is completely lifted, and, since the effective superpotential is valid away from the origin of the moduli space the singlet S can take any arbitrary VEV. We can have two cases: for S = 0we recover the case of magnetic flux m = 0 in electric theory, corresponding with the Hilbert series $H^{I(A)}$, while $S \neq 0$ corresponds m > 0, where the Hilbert series is equal to $H^{II(A)}$.

• p = 0: the *R*-charges of \widehat{Y} and $\det(qq)$ implies that the combination $\widehat{Y}^2 \det(qq)$ has zero *R*-charge, meaning that there is a constraint $\widehat{Y}^2 \det(qq) = 1$ generated. Thus, we have the effective superpotential

$$W = S\widehat{Y} + \lambda(\widehat{Y}^2 \det(qq) - 1).$$
(2.110)

where λ is the Lagrange multiplier. Using the equation of motion, we have

$$W = \pm \frac{S}{\det(qq)^{1/2}},$$
 (2.111)

which gives runway vacua.

• $p \ge 1$: the effective superpotential reads

$$W = S\widehat{Y} + \left(\widehat{Y}^2 \det(qq)\right)^{-\frac{1}{p}}.$$
(2.112)

The equations of motion for \widehat{Y} reads

$$\widehat{Y} = \left[\frac{p}{2}\det(qq)^{1/p}S\right]^{-\frac{p}{p+2}}.$$
(2.113)

¹¹The *R*-charges of \widehat{Y} and det(*qq*) are the given by:

$$R[\widehat{Y}] = (N_f - N_c - p)(1 - r) - [(N_f - N_c + 2) - 2], \qquad R[\det(qq)] = 2r(N_f - N_c - p),$$

where R[q] = r. The combination $\widehat{Y}^2 \det(qq)$ thus has *R*-charge -2p.

Substituting into the superpotential we finally obtain

$$W \sim \left(\frac{S^2}{\det(qq)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2+p}},\tag{2.114}$$

which again gives runway vacua.

2.2.10 The ARSW duality for special orthogonal gauge groups

In this section we consider the following duality:

Theory A: SO (N_c) with N_f chirals in the vector representation and zero superpotential.

Theory B: SO $(N_f - N_c + 2)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation, $N_f(2N_f + 1)$ singlets M, a singlet Y and superpotential $W = Mqq + Y\hat{Y}$, where \hat{Y} is the basic monopole operator in this theory.

This duality was proposed by Aharony, Razamat, Seiberg and Willet (ARSW) in [22]. A crucial difference between this duality and the duality involving gauge group $O(N_c)$, discussed in the previous section, is the presence of the baryons and the baryon monopoles in the former.

Theory A. Let us start with theory A. The magnetic flux of the monopole operator Y takes the form (m, 0, ..., 0) in the Dynkin label notation.

For m = 0, the residual theory is SO(N_c) with N_f flavours (for $N_f \ge N_c$), in which case the Hilbert series is given by ([50], (2.29)):

$$H_{N_c,N_f}^{SO}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,\dots,n_{N_c}\geq 0} [2n_1,2n_2,\dots,2n_{N_c-1},n_{N_c},0^{N_f-N_c-1}]_{\boldsymbol{x}}(t^R y)^{2\sum_{j=1}^{N_c-1} jn_j+n_{N_c}N_c}, \quad (2.115)$$

where R is the R-charge for the quarks and y is the fugacity for the axial symmetry. We emphasise that $H_{N_c,N_f}^{SO}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$ counts the operators generated by the mesons and the baryons, subject to algebraic relations among themselves.

For $m \neq 0$, the gauge group is broken to $S(O(N_c - 2) \times O(2))$; this includes a \mathbb{Z}_2 group corresponding to transformations with determinant (-1) both in $SO(N_c - 2)$ and in SO(2). As discussed in [22], the gauge invariant monopole operator Y is charge conjugation even in SO(2), and it will be denoted by W_+ . There is also a charge conjugation odd monopole operator W_- in SO(2). In order to obtain an invariant quantity under the \mathbb{Z}_2 part of the gauge group, one can form a baryon monopole $\beta = Q^{N_c - 2}W_-$, where the product $Q^{N_c - 2}$ is invariant under the $SO(N_c - 2) \times SO(2)$ residual gauge symmetry. The *R*-charges and the $U(1)_A$ charges of the monopole operators are as follows:

$$R[Y] = R[W^{\pm}] = (N_f - (N_c - 2))(1 - R),$$

$$R[\beta] = (N_f - N_c + 2) - (N_f - 2N_c + 4)R,$$

$$A[Y] = A[W^{\pm}] = -N_f,$$

$$A[\beta] = N_c - N_f - 2,$$

(2.116)

The Hilbert series for $m \neq 0$ can be obtained as follows:

$$\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} t^{mR[W_{+}]} y^{mA[W_{+}]}\right) H_{N_{c}-2,N_{f}}^{SO}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)
= \left(\frac{t^{(N_{f}-N_{c}+2)(1-R)} y^{-N_{f}}}{1-t^{(N_{f}-N_{c}+2)(1-R)} y^{-N_{f}}}\right) H_{N_{c}-2,N_{f}}^{SO}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R),$$
(2.117)

where the factor in the bracket is the dressing factor coming from the monopole operator $Y^m = W^m_+$ with $m \ge 1$.

The total Hilbert series of theory A can be obtained in a similar way as in (2.106):

$$H^{(A)}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = H^{SO}_{N_c, N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) + \left(\frac{t^{(N_f - N_c + 2)(1 - R)}y^{-N_f}}{1 - t^{(N_f - N_c + 2)(1 - R)}y^{-N_f}}\right) H^{SO}_{N_c - 2, N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R),$$
(2.118)

Note that if the charge conjugation symmetry is gauged, we recover formula (2.106) for the $O(N_c)$ gauge group.

The special case of $N_f = N_c - 2$. In this case we obtain

$$H_{N_{c}-2,N_{c}-2}^{SO}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) = \sum_{\substack{n_{1},n_{2},\dots,n_{N_{c}-2} \geq 0 \\ 0 = \frac{1 - (t^{R}y)^{2(N_{c}-2)}}{1 - (t^{R}y)^{(N_{c}-2)}} H_{N_{c}-2,N_{c}-2}^{O}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R), \qquad (2.119)$$

where $H^O_{N_c-2,N_c-2}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R)$ can be computed using (2.104) to obtain

$$H^{O}_{N_{c}-2,N_{c}-2}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) = \operatorname{PE}\left[[2,0,\ldots,0]t^{2R}y^{2}\right], \qquad (2.120)$$

which is a generating function of the mesons M. The factor $(1-(t^R y)^{(N_c-2)})^{-1}$ corresponds to the baryon $B = Q^{N_c-2}$, and the numerator $1 - (t^R y)^{2(N_c-2)}$ indicates that there is a chiral ring relation $B^2 = \det_{(N_c-2)\times(N_c-2)}(M)$. The total Hilbert series (2.118) in this case is therefore

$$H_{N_{c}-2,N_{c}-2}^{O}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) + \frac{y^{-(N_{c}-2)}}{1-y^{-(N_{c}-2)}} \frac{1-(t^{R}y)^{2(N_{c}-2)}}{1-(t^{R}y)^{(N_{c}-2)}} H_{N_{c}-2,N_{c}-2}^{O}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R)$$

$$= \frac{1-t^{2(N_{c}-2)R}}{(1-y^{-(N_{c}-2)})(1-t^{(N_{c}-2)R})} H_{N_{c}-2,N_{c}-2}^{O}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) .$$

$$(2.121)$$

where we have used the fact that there is no baryon in $SO(N_c)$ gauge theory with $N_c - 2$ flavours and so we have the following equality ([50], (2.28)):

$$H_{N_c,N_c-2}^{SO}(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) = H_{N_c-2,N_c-2}^O(t,y,\boldsymbol{x};R) .$$
(2.122)

Let us discuss the physical interpretation of (2.121). The moduli space of this theory is a complete intersection, generated by the monopole operator Y, the baryon monopole operator β , and the mesons M. These generators correspond to the factors $(1 - y^{-(N_c-2)})^{-1}$,

 $(1 - t^{(N_c-2)R})^{-1}$ and $H^O_{N_c-2,N_c-2}(t, y, x)$ in the Hilbert series, respectively. The numerator $1 - t^{2(N_c-2)R}$ indicates that there is a chiral ring relation

$$\beta^2 \sim Y^2 \det(M) \,, \tag{2.123}$$

in agreement with ([22], (2.22)). We emphasise that, in the Hilbert series (2.121), the factor corresponding to the baryon monopole β emerges only after summing the second term with the first term.

Theory B. The gauge invariant combination qq in theory B vanishes due to the F-term $\partial_M W = 0$. The singlets M are subject to the quantum relation $\operatorname{rank}(M) \leq N_c$, which can be derived in the same way as in the previous subsection for orthogonal gauge groups. Also, the singlet Y in theory B is mapped to the monopole operator Y in theory A. As discussed in ([22], (2.28)), the baryon monopole operators and the baryons in theory B are mapped to the baryons and the baryon monopole operators in theory A, and the former satisfy the same set of relations as those in theory A. As a consequence, the Hilbert series of theory B is equal to that of theory A.

2.2.11 The duality involving orthogonal gauge groups and W = Y

In this section we consider the following duality [22]:

Theory A: $O(N_c)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation and superpotential W = Y.

Theory B: $O(N_f - N_c)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation, $N_f(2N_f + 1)$ singlets M and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}$.

As usual, the R-charge R of the quarks in theory A is fixed by the superpotential, which gives

$$R[Y] = 2 = N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 2) \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad R = \frac{N_f - N_c}{N_f}.$$
 (2.124)

Due to the presence of Y in the superpotential, the Coulomb branch is lifted and we set Y = 0 in the chiral ring. Hence, the Hilbert series of theory A is given by the mesonic Hilbert series of $O(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours

$$H^{(A)}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = H^{O}_{N_{c}, N_{f}}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R), \qquad (2.125)$$

where $H_{N_c,N_f}^O(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$ is given by (2.104).

Let us now analyse theory B. It is convenient to consider its BCC dual, which is an $O(N_c + 2)$ theory with N_f fundamentals and a singlet \hat{Y} and with a superpotential $W = \hat{Y}Y' + \hat{Y}$, where Y' is now the basic monopole operator of this new theory. Taking the equations of motion of the singlet we see that the VEV of the monopole is fixed, Y' = -1, hence the original gauge group $O(N_c+2)$ is broken to $O(N_c)$ with an additional O(2) factor that decouples in the IR. Moreover, putting Y' = -1 into the superpotential we end up with W = 0. Therefore, the residual theory is $O(N_c)$ with N_f flavours. The *R*-charge of the quarks in this theory is also equal to R; this is determined by the superpotential, which implies $N_f(1-R) - (N_c + 2 - 2) = 0$. Thus, the Hilbert series is $H^O_{N_c,N_f}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$, in complete agreement with theory A.

There is also a similar duality for the special orthogonal gauge groups [22]:

Theory A': SO(N_c) with N_f chirals in the vector representation and superpotential W = Y.

Theory B': SO $(N_f - N_c)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation, $N_f(2N_f + 1)$ singlets M and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}$.

In theory A', Y = 0 in the chiral ring and so the Hilbert series of theory A' is

$$H^{(A')}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = H^{SO}_{N_c, N_s}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R), \qquad (2.126)$$

where $H_{N_c,N_f}^{SO}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$ is given by (2.115). The moduli space of theory B' can be conveniently studied by applying the ARSW duality and obtain $SO(N_c + 2)$ with N_f flavours, a singlet \hat{Y} and $W = \hat{Y}\hat{Y}' + \hat{Y}$, where \hat{Y}' is the basic monopole operator in this theory. The *F*-term $\partial_{\hat{Y}}W = 0$ gives $\hat{Y}' = -1$, and so the gauge group $SO(N_c + 2)$ is broken to $SO(N_c)$. The residual theory is therefore $SO(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours and zero superpotential. The *R*-charge of the quarks in this theory is also equal to *R*. Thus the Hilbert series of theory B' is also $H_{N_c,N_f}^{SO}(t, y, \boldsymbol{x}; R)$.

3 Dualities with quadratic monopole superpotentials

In this section, we study theories containing quadratic monopole superpotentials and their dualties. We start our discussion with the duality involving models with superpotential $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$, which was first proposed in [35]. We then proceed to new dualities, including that involving $W = (X^-)^2$ and chiral flavours and Chern-Simons levels, as well as those with symplectic and orthogonal gauge groups.

Below we state explicitly the dualities, global symmetries, *R*-charges of various chiral fields, and some of their important features. In section 4, we present the three sphere partition functions of the theories study presented here and show that they match across the duality. As a further test of these new dualties, it will also be shown that by giving appropriate real masses to certain chiral multiplets, we can flow from the proposed dualities to the known ones. Subsequently, in section 5, we study the moduli spaces, compute the Hilbert series and show that they also match between the dual theories.

3.1 The effect of quadratic monopole superpotential terms

The analysis is similar to the linear case. If V is one of the basic monopole operators, the superpotential $W = V^2$ fixes the *R*-charge of V to be 1 and fixes the *R*-charge of the chiral fields. In the abelian theory, as pointed out in [2, 19], we can rewrite V as $V = e^z$, so that the *F*-term $\partial_z W = \partial_z e^{2z} = 0$ implies that $e^{2z} = V^2 = 0$ and hence V = 0; in other words, the Coulomb branch is lifted. We propose that this also holds in the non-abelian theory, namely the presence of the quadratic monopole operators in the superpotential also leads

to the lift of the part of the Coulomb branch parametrised by that monopole operator. We shall see from the analyses in section 5 that this proposal is consistent with the duality.

3.2 Models with unitary gauge groups

3.2.1 $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$

Theory A: $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours Q and \widetilde{Q} , and superpotential

$$W = (X^{+})^{2} + (X^{-})^{2} . (3.1)$$

Theory B: $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets M and superpotential

$$W = M\tilde{q}q + (\hat{X}^{+})^{2} + (\hat{X}^{-})^{2} .$$
(3.2)

This duality was proposed in [35]. Due to the monopole superpotential, we expect the U(1) topological symmetry to be broken to \mathbb{Z}_2 and the U(1) axial symmetry to be broken. In theory A, the Coulomb branch is complete lifted due to the F-terms $\partial_{X^{\pm}}W = 0$, which implies that $X^+ = X^- = 0$. The same phenomenon happens also in theory B. The R-charge R of the quarks and antiquarks in theory A is fixed by the monopole superpotential:

$$N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 1) = R[X^{\pm}] = 1 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad R = 1 - \frac{N_c}{N_f}$$
 (3.3)

The mesons in theory A is mapped to the singlets M in theory B. We shall discuss the rank condition of M and other details in 5.1.1.

3.2.2 $W = (X^{-})^{2}$

Theory A: U(N_c) gauge theory with N_f flavours Q and \widetilde{Q} and $W = (X^{-})^{2}$.

Theory B: $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets \widehat{M} , singlet S^+ and superpotential $W = M\widetilde{q}q + (\widehat{X}^+)^2 + S^+\widehat{X}^-$, where \widehat{X}^{\pm} are the basic monopoles in theory B, and S^+ is dual to the monopole X^+ in theory A.

In these theories, the topological symmetry and the axial symmetry is broken to a diagonal subgroup, which we denotes by $U(1)_{T'}$ symmetry. In theory A, the part of the Coulomb branch that is generated by X^- is lifted due to the quadratic term $(X^-)^2$ in the superpotential. However, the part that is generated by X^+ still remains. The *R*-charges of X^- is fixed to be equal to 1, whereas that of X^+ depends on how we parametrise the mixing between the *R*-symmetry and the $U(1)_{T'}$ symmetry. We shall postpone the detailed discussion until section 5.1.2. We propose the following operator maps between theories A and B:

Theory
$$A$$
 Theory B
 $X^+ \longleftrightarrow S^+$, (3.4)
mesons $\longleftrightarrow M$.

In section 4.1, we show that this duality can be obtained by flowing from the duality $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$ discussed in the previous subsection. In this way, we also match the three sphere partition functions of the two theories in (4.18). Furthermore, we demonstrate that, by appropriate shifts of real masses, one obtains the Aharony duality. These constitute non-trivial tests of the proposed duality.

3.2.3 $W = (X^{-})^{2}$, chiral flavour and Chern-Simons terms

Theory A: $U(N_c)_{\frac{k}{2}}$ with k > 0 and $(N_f, N_a = N_f - k)$ fund/antifund and superpotential $W = (X^-)^2$.

Theory B: U($N_f - N_c$)_{-k/2} with ($N_f, N_a = N_f - k$) fund/antifund, $N_f N_a$ singlets and superpotential $W = (\widehat{X}^+)^2 + \sum_i^{N_f} \sum_j^{N_a} M^i{}_j \widetilde{q}_i q^j$.

In theory A, The monopole operator X^- vanishes in the chiral ring due to the quadratic term $(X^-)^2$ in the superpotential, and the Coulomb branch generated by X^+ is lifted due to the non-zero CS level. Thus, the moduli space is generated by the meson matrix with the rank at most N_c . The *R*-charge *R* of the fundamentals and antifundamentals is fixed by the monopole superpotential:

$$1 = \frac{1}{2}N_f(1-R) + \frac{1}{2}N_a(1-R) - (N_c - 1) \quad \Rightarrow \quad R = 1 - 2\frac{N_c}{N_a + N_f} .$$
(3.5)

A similar analysis can be carried out for theory B, where singlets M are mapped to the elements of the meson matrix of theory A. We analyse the moduli space of theory B in detail in section 5.1.3. The contact terms and the matching of the three sphere partition functions are discussed in section 4.1.3.

3.3 Models with symplectic gauge groups

Theory A: USp $(2N_c)$ with $2N_f$ fundamentals and superpotential $W = Y^2$.

Theory B: USp $(2(N_f - N_c - 1))$ with $2N_f$ fundamentals, $N_f(2N_f - 1)$ singlets M, and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}^2$.

In theory A the Coulomb branch is lifted. Again, the moduli space is generated by the meson matrix with the rank at most $2N_c$. The *R*-charge *R* of the fundamentals is fixed by the monopole superpotential:

$$R[Y] = 1 = 2N_f(1-R) - 2N_c \quad \Rightarrow \quad R = \frac{2N_f - 2N_c - 1}{2N_f} . \tag{3.6}$$

A similar analysis can be carried out for theory B. More details will be provided in section 5.2. The matching of the partition functions for the two theories will be discussed in section 4.2.

3.4 Models with orthogonal gauge groups

Theory A: $O(N_c)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation and superpotential $W = Y^2$.

Theory B: $O(N_f - N_c + 2)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation, $N_f(2N_f + 1)$ singlets M and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}^2$.

The analysis is very similar to the case of the symplectic gauge groups. In theory A, the Coulomb branch is lifted. Again, the moduli space is generated by the meson matrix with the rank at most N_c . The R-charge R of the quarks is fixed by the monopole superpotential:

$$R[Y] = 1 = N_f(1 - R) - (N_c - 2) \quad \Rightarrow \quad R = \frac{N_f - N_c + 1}{N_f}.$$
(3.7)

A similar analysis can be carried out for theory B. More details will be provided in section 5.3. The matching of the partition functions for the two theories will be discussed in section 4.3.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that there is also a similar duality for the special orthogonal gauge groups:

Theory A': SO(N_c) with N_f chirals in the vector representation and superpotential $W = Y^2$.

Theory B': SO $(N_f - N_c + 2)$ with N_f chirals in the vector representation, $N_f(2N_f + 1)$ singlets M and superpotential $W = Mqq + (\widehat{Y})^2$.

4 The three sphere partition function

In this section we provide some analytic checks of the dualities proposed above. We study the consistency of the real mass flows connecting the dualities with quadratic monopole superpotentials in the UV to Aharony duality in the IR. In each case we conjecture in the UV an identity between the squashed three sphere partition functions obtained by localization. Such identities are sketchily of the form

$$Z_{\rm ele}(\mu) = Z_{\rm mag}(\mu) \tag{4.1}$$

where Z_{ele} and Z_{mag} refer to the electric and to the magnetic partition functions. The parameters μ are in general complex combinations of real masses and R-charges. The presence of the monopole superpotentials break some combinations of the topological and of the axial global symmetries and it reflects in some constraints on the μ parameters. We refer to the these constraints as balancing conditions. Then we simulate, on the partition functions, the real mass flows that lead to other IR dualities. Such real mass flows correspond to infinite and real shifts on some of the parameters μ . In general we arrive, in the IR, to identities between infinite quantities. If we can drop the divergent terms in these final identities we interpret the identities between the finite parts as the ones between the IR partition functions obtained after the real mass flows. When the expected IR duality corresponds to Aharony duality we read the final identity between the electric and magnetic partition functions and compare with the ones that already appeared in the literature. If these agree the whole procedure has furnished a consistency check of (4.1) and consequently of the conjectured UV duality.

We apply the procedure described above to the dualities with quadratic monopole superpotential in presence of unitary, symplectic and orthogonal gauge groups. As a general remark we observe that in each case we need to perform a dual Higgs flow [52] in order to recover Aharony duality in the IR. Such dual higgsing is necessary to reconstruct the correct scaling of the divergent term and to reconstruct the correct matter and gauge content of the dual theories.

4.1 The unitary case

We start analyzing the RG flow from the $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$ duality to Aharony duality. As an intermediate step we obtain the duality with $W = (X^-)^2$. Starting from this last duality we discuss the case with a CS term as well.

4.1.1 Flowing from $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$ to $W = (X^-)^2$

We start considering the duality between 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2 \ \mathrm{U}(N_c)$ with N_f flavors and $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$ to $W = (X^-)^2$ and $\mathrm{U}(\tilde{N}_c = N_f - N_c)$ with N_f dual flavors, the meson M and $W = Mq\tilde{q} + (\hat{X}^+)^2 + (\hat{X}^-)^2$. The identity relating the UV partition functions is of the form

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(N_c),N_f}(\mu,\nu) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \nu_i) Z_{\mathrm{U}(\tilde{N}_c),N_f}(\tilde{\mu},\tilde{\nu})$$
(4.2)

where

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(N_c),N_f}(\mu,\nu) = \frac{1}{|W|} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} \left(dx_a \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\nu_i + x_a) \right) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b))$$
(4.3)

Even if this relation is so far conjectural, we will give an analytic proof below, observing that it can be derived from Aharony duality. The parameters μ_i and ν_i are complex combinations of real masses and *R*-charges of the N_f fundamentals and anti-fundamentals respectively. They can be explicitly expressed as follows

$$\mu_i = m_i + m_A + \omega\Delta, \qquad \nu_i = \widetilde{m}_i + m_A + \omega\Delta \tag{4.4}$$

where $\sum_{i} m_{i} = \sum_{i} \tilde{m}_{i} = 0$. The real parameter m_{A} is the axial mass and the *R*-charge Δ coincides in this case for the fundamentals and for the anti-fundamentals. The parameter ω is purely imaginary, and it is explicitly given by $2\omega \equiv \omega_{1} + \omega_{2} \equiv i(b + b^{-1})$, where *b* is the real squashing parameter of the ellipsoid S_{b}^{3} . The ellipsoid is defined by the relation

$$\frac{x_1^2 + x_2^2}{b^2} + \frac{x_3^2 + x_4^2}{1/b^2} = 1$$
(4.5)

The one loop determinants Γ_h are hyperbolic Gamma functions¹²

$$\Gamma_h(z;\omega_1,\omega_2) \equiv \Gamma_h(z) \equiv e^{\frac{i\pi}{2\omega_1\omega_2}((z-\omega)^2 - \frac{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2}{12})} \prod_{\alpha=0}^{\infty} \frac{1 - e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\omega_1}(\omega_2 - z)} e^{\frac{2\pi i\omega_2\alpha}{\omega_1}}}{1 - e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{\omega_2}z} e^{-\frac{2\pi i\omega_1\alpha}{\omega_2}}}.$$
 (4.6)

The dimension of the Weyl group is denoted by |W|. In (4.2) the real mass parameters are constrained by the balancing condition

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) = 2\omega(N_f - N_c)$$
(4.7)

that corresponds to the constraint enforced by the monopole superpotential on the global symmetries. 13

As anticipated above the identity (4.2) can be derived from the one relating two Aharony dual theories. The argument works as follows. The identity for Aharony duality is

$$Z_{\mathrm{U}(N_{c}),N_{f}}(\mu;\nu;\eta) = \Gamma_{h} \left(\pm \frac{\eta}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{f}} (\mu_{i} + \nu_{i}) + \omega(N_{f} - N_{c} + 1) \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{i,j=1}^{N_{f}} \Gamma_{h}(\mu_{i} + \nu_{j}) Z_{\mathrm{U}(N_{f} - N_{c}),N_{f}}(\omega - \mu;\omega - \nu;-\eta)$$
(4.8)

where the parameters μ , ν and the FI term η are unconstrained. From this identity one can prove (4.2), with the help of a field theoretical analysis: deforming the electric side of Aharony duality by the quadratic superpotential $W = X_{+}^2 + X_{-}^2$ imposes the constraints

$$\eta = 0, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) = 2\omega(N_f - N_c) \tag{4.9}$$

¹²The notations adopted by this paper is related to that adopted by [35] as follows:

$$\omega = i\frac{Q}{2}, \quad \text{with } Q = b + b^{-1},$$

$$\Gamma_h(x) = s_b \left(i\frac{Q}{2} - x\right), \quad s_b(x) = \Gamma_h \left(\omega - x\right).$$

Moreover, the notations of real masses in this paper are related to [35] as follows:

Ours ref. [35]

$$\mu_a \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad m_a$$

$$\nu_a \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \tilde{m}_a$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(\mu_a + \nu_a) \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \mu_a$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(-\mu_a + \nu_a) \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad M_a \; .$$

¹³Let us explain briefly the origin of this balancing condition. The superpotential $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$ constraints the *R*-charges of X^{\pm} to be 1, i.e. $R[X^{\pm}] = 1 = N_f(1 - \Delta) - (N_c - 1)$, which implies that $\Delta = 1 - \frac{N_c}{N_f}$. This is in agreement with the matching of the coefficients of ω in the left and the right hand sides of the balancing condition, namely $2N_f\Delta = 2(N_f - N_c)$.

By plugging (4.9) in the identity (4.8) and by using the fact that $\Gamma_h(\omega) = 1$ one arrives at the identity (4.2). A similar argument can be repeated for the cases of dualities with symplectic and orthogonal gauge groups. We leave the details to the reader.

We now consider this duality for $N_f + 1$ fundamentals and anti-fundamentals. The gauge group of the dual model is $U(N_f - N_c + 1)$. We study the real mass flow to the $W = (X^-)^2$ duality by shifting μ_{N_f+1} and ν_{N_f+1} as

$$\mu_{N_f+1} \to \frac{\eta}{2} + s, \quad \nu_{N_f+1} \to \frac{\eta}{2} - s$$
 (4.10)

and consider the limit $s \to \infty$. The flow on the dual side must be supported by the Higgs flow $x_{N_f-N_c+1} \to y+s$. The balancing condition becomes

$$\eta + \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) = 2\omega(N_f - N_c + 1)$$
(4.11)

At large s we can integrate out the massive flavors by using the formula

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \Gamma_h(x) = e^{\frac{i\pi}{2}(x-\omega)^2} \tag{4.12}$$

This formula corresponds to the generation of half-integer CS levels, for the gauge and for the flavors symmetries, when integrating out heavy fermions with large real mass. By using (4.12) the partition function of the electric theory becomes

$$e^{i\pi N_c(\eta - 2\omega)t} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} e^{-i\pi(\eta - 2\omega)x_a} dx_a \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\nu_i + x_a) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b))$$
(4.13)

where the exponential factor in the integrand represents the contribution of a generalized FI term in the classical action. The dual partition function is

$$e^{i\pi N_{c}(\eta-2\omega)t}\Gamma_{h}(\eta)\prod_{i,j=1}^{N_{f}}\Gamma_{h}(\mu_{i}+\nu_{j})\int dy e^{-i\pi y(\eta-2\omega)}\Gamma_{h}\left(\pm x+\omega-\frac{\eta}{2}\right)$$

$$\int \prod_{i,j=1}^{N_{f}-N_{c}}e^{-i\pi(\eta-2\omega)x_{a}}dx_{a}\prod_{i}^{N_{f}}\Gamma_{h}(\omega-\mu_{i}-x_{a})\Gamma_{h}(\omega-\nu_{i}+x_{a})\prod_{i}\Gamma_{i}^{-1}(\pm(x_{a}-x_{b}))$$

$$(4.14)$$

$$\int \prod_{a=1}^{j} e^{-i\pi(\eta-2\omega)x_a} dx_a \prod_{i=1}^{j} \Gamma_h(\omega-\mu_i-x_a)\Gamma_h(\omega-\nu_i+x_a) \prod_{1\leq a< b\leq \widetilde{N}_f-N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm(x_a-x_b))$$

The first integral in (4.14) can be simplified, because it corresponds to SQED with one flavor, and it is mirror dual to a triple of singlets. This duality corresponds to the integral identity

$$\int dx e^{i\pi x\lambda} \Gamma_h(x+m) \Gamma_h(x+n) = \Gamma_h(m+n) \Gamma_h\left(\pm \frac{\lambda}{2} - \frac{m+n}{2} + \omega\right)$$
(4.15)

In our case it corresponds to

$$\int dx e^{-i\pi x(\eta - 2\omega)} \Gamma_h \left(\pm x + \omega - \frac{\eta}{2} \right) = \Gamma_h \left(2\omega - \mu \right) \Gamma_h \left(\pm \frac{2\omega - \eta}{2} + \frac{\eta}{2} \right)$$
(4.16)

Then, substituting this integral in the magnetic partition function and using the identities

$$\Gamma_h(2\omega - x)\Gamma_h(x) = 1, \qquad \Gamma_h(\omega) = 1$$
(4.17)

we arrive at the relation

$$\int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a e^{i\pi(2\omega-\eta)x_a} \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\nu_i + x_a) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b))$$

$$= \Gamma_h(\eta - \omega) \prod_{i,j=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \nu_j) \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_f - N_c} dx_a e^{i\pi(2\omega-\eta)x_a}$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\omega - \mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\omega - \nu_i + x_a) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_f - N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b))$$
(4.18)

The first term on the r.h.s. corresponds to the singlet S. It can be re-written, by using the balancing condition, as

$$\Gamma_h(\eta - \omega) = \Gamma_h\left(\frac{\eta}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) + \omega(N_f - N_c)\right) .$$
(4.19)

At this point of the discussion we can shift $\eta \to \eta + 2\omega$, so that now $-\frac{1}{2}\eta$ can be interpreted as a real FI parameter of the theory, as it appears in the exponential functions in the first and the second lines of (4.18). This shift modifies the balancing condition (4.11) to

$$\eta + \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) = 2\omega (N_f - N_c)$$
(4.20)

and the contribution of the singlet in (4.19) becomes

$$\Gamma_h \left(\frac{\eta}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) + \omega (N_f - N_c + 1) \right) .$$
(4.21)

We can then read the charge of the singlet S from the argument of the hyperbolic Gamma function appearing in (4.21) and then relate it to the one of the electric monopole X^+ . The term $\frac{\eta}{2}$ implies that S carries the topological charge +1, in the same way as X^+ does. The axial mass can be read from the sum of the masses μ_i and ν_i . This is because each of these masses can be split into a vector and an axial contribution, and the sum corresponds to the axial contribution only. More explicitly we can define μ_i and ν_i as

$$\mu_i = m_i + m_A + \omega \Delta, \quad \nu_i = n_i + m_A + \omega \Delta, \quad \text{with} \quad \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} m_i = \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} n_i = 0$$
 (4.22)

where m_A is the axial mass and Δ refers to the *R*-charge. This axial mass of the singlet is $-m_A$ and it corresponds to the one of X^+ . Observe that the presence of quadratic monopole superpotentials actually preserves only a linear combination of the axial and of the topological symmetries. The role of such a superpotential deformation is here played by the balancing condition (4.20).

Eventually we can match the *R*-charges of the singlet *S* and of the monopole X^+ . The *R*-charge of *S* corresponds to the coefficient of ω in the argument of (4.20) after the substitution (4.22). It is

$$R[S] = N_f (1 - \Delta) - N_c + 1 \tag{4.23}$$

Thus, $R[X^+] = R[S]$, as expected.

The final relation (4.18) is therefore compatible with the duality between $U(N_c)$ with N_f fundamental flavors and $W = (X^-)^2$ and $U(N_f - N_c)$ with N_f dual fundamental flavors and $W = Mq\tilde{q} + (\hat{X}^+)^2 + S\hat{X}^-$, where the singlet S corresponds to X^+ in the electric side. The term $S\hat{X}^-$, which enters the superpotential, has R-charge 2. This follows from the fact that the R-charge of \hat{X} is given by

$$R[\hat{X}] = N_f (1 - (1 - \Delta)) - (N_f - N_c - 1), \qquad (4.24)$$

and so $R[S] + R[\hat{X}] = 2$.

4.1.2 Flowing from $W = (X^-)^2$ to the Aharony duality

We can study a further flow, from this duality to the Aharony duality. This flow is engineered by considering the $W = (X^-)^2$ duality with with $N_f + 1$ flavors and shift the masses as

$$(\mu_i, \nu_i) \to (\mu_i - s, \nu_i + s)$$
 $i = 1, \dots, N_f$ (4.25)

$$(\mu_{N_f+1}, \nu_{N_f+1}) \to \left(\frac{\eta_2}{2} + sN_f, \frac{\eta_2}{2} - sN_f\right)$$
 (4.26)

We also shift the vector multiplet by $x_i \to x_i + s$, $i = , ..., N_c$. Furthermore, in the dual theory we need to consider the shift $x_i \to x_i - s$, for $i = 1, ..., N_f - N_c$. There is also a dual Higgsing corresponding to the shift $x_{N_f-N_c+1} \to y + sN_f$. The balancing condition (4.11) becomes

$$\eta + \eta_2 + \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) = 2\omega(N_f - N_c + 2) . \qquad (4.27)$$

By computing the large s limit we arrive at the identity

$$\int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a e^{-i\pi(\eta-\eta_2)x_a} \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\nu_i + x_a) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b))$$

$$= \Gamma_h(\eta - \omega) \Gamma_h(\eta_2) \prod_{i,j=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \nu_j) \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_f - N_c} dx_a e^{-i\pi(\eta-\eta_2)x_a}$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\omega - \mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\omega - \nu_i + x_a) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_f - N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b))$$

$$\times \int dy e^{-i\pi y (\sum_{i=1}^{N_f} (\mu_i + \nu_i) + \eta - 2\omega(N_f - N_c + 1))} \Gamma_h\left(y + \omega - \frac{\eta_2}{2}\right) \Gamma_h\left(-y + \omega - \frac{\eta_2}{2}\right)$$
(4.28)

The integral in the last line can be computed explicitly and it corresponds to

$$\Gamma_{h}(2\omega - \eta_{2})\Gamma_{h}\left(\frac{\eta_{2}}{2} + \left(\frac{\eta}{2} + \omega(N_{f} - N_{c} + 1) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{a=1}^{N_{f}}(\mu_{a} + \nu_{a})\right)\right) \times \Gamma_{h}\left(\frac{\eta_{2}}{2} - \left(\frac{\eta}{2} - \omega(N_{f} - N_{c} + 1) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{a=1}^{N_{f}}(\mu_{a} + \nu_{a})\right)\right)$$
(4.29)

The first term in (4.29) simplifies with the term $\Gamma_h(\eta_2)$ in the first line of (4.28), due to the identity $\Gamma_h(2\omega - \eta_2)\Gamma_h(\eta_2) = 1$. The second term is equivalent to $\Gamma_h(\omega) = 1$ because of the balancing condition (4.27). The last term in (4.29), which is simplified to $\Gamma_h(\eta_2 - \omega)$ upon using the balancing condition (4.27), can be identified with the monopoles of the electric theory. The antimonopole is still identified with $\Gamma_h(\eta - \omega)$ in (4.28). Indeed by using the balancing condition (4.27) we can see that they are equivalent to

$$\Gamma_{h}(\eta_{2}-\omega) = \Gamma_{h}\left(\frac{\eta_{2}-\eta}{2} + \omega(N_{f}-N_{c}+1) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{a=1}^{N_{f}}(\mu_{a}+\nu_{a})\right)$$

$$\Gamma_{h}(\eta-\omega) = \Gamma_{h}\left(-\frac{\eta_{2}-\eta}{2} + \omega(N_{f}-N_{c}+1) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{a=1}^{N_{f}}(\mu_{a}+\nu_{a})\right),$$
(4.30)

where $\eta_2 - \eta \equiv \zeta$ is the effective FI that can be read from the partition function. We have obtained the identity

$$\int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a e^{-i\pi\zeta x_a} \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\nu_i + x_a) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b)) = \Gamma_h\left(\pm \frac{\zeta}{2} + \omega(N_f - N_c + 1) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{N_f} (\mu_a + \nu_a)\right) \prod_{i,j=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \nu_j)$$

$$\times \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_f - N_c} dx_a e^{-i\pi\zeta x_a} \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\omega - \mu_i - x_a) \Gamma_h(\omega - \nu_i + x_a) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_f - N_c} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm (x_a - x_b))$$
(4.31)

This is the correct expression for the matching of the electric and the magnetic partition function in the Aharony duality.

Summarizing we started from the conjectured identity (4.2) between the partition functions of the $W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$ duality. Then we have obtained the identity between the partition functions of the $W = (X^-)^2$ duality. Eventually we have obtained the known identity corresponding to the matching between the electric and the magnetic Aharony dual phases. This corroborates the validity of the dualities with quadratic monopole superpotentials.

4.1.3 The $W = (X^{-})^{2}$ duality with the Chern-Simons term

We conclude this section by studying the RG flow from the $W = (X^{-})^{2}$ duality to the case with CS term. The masses, the FI and the scalar σ in the electric theory are shifted

as follows

$$\mu_{a} \rightarrow \mu_{a} - ks \qquad a = 1, \dots, N_{f} - k$$

$$\mu_{a} \rightarrow \mu_{a} + (2N_{f} - k)s \qquad a = N_{f} - k + 1, \dots, N_{f}$$

$$\nu_{a} \rightarrow \nu_{a} + ks \qquad a = 1, \dots, N_{f} \qquad (4.32)$$

$$\eta \rightarrow \eta - 2N_{f}ks \qquad i = 1, \dots, N_{c}$$

While in the magnetic theory we read the masses from the duality map and provide the opposite shift on $\sigma_i \to \sigma_i + ks$, $i = 1, \ldots, \tilde{N}_c$. We arrive to a duality between a $U(N_c)_{\frac{k}{2}}$ theory with $N_f - k$ fundamentals and N_f antifundamentals and superpotential $W = (X^+)^2$ and a $U(\tilde{N}_c = N_f - N_c)_{-\frac{k}{2}}$ theory with $N_f - k$ fundamentals and N_f antifundamentals, a meson M with $N_f(N_f - k)$ components and superpotential

$$W = \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \sum_{j=1}^{N_f-k} M_i^j q_j \tilde{q}_i + (\hat{X}^-)^2$$
(4.33)

We perform the infinite shift on the identity (4.18). There is a divergent phase that cancels between the electric and the magnetic side of the identity. Observe that the linear divergent term in the phase cancels because of the relation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \mu_i = \sum_{i=1}^{N_f-k} \mu_i + \sum_{i=N_f-k+1}^{N_f} \mu_i = \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \nu_i$$
(4.34)

The final identity is

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{|W_{\mathrm{U}(N_c)}|} &\int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} d\sigma_a e^{i\pi\xi_e \sigma_a + \frac{i\pi}{2}k\sigma_a^2} \prod_{i=1}^{N_f - k} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \sigma_a) \prod_{j=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\nu_j - \sigma_a) \prod_{a < b} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm(\sigma_a - \sigma_b)) \\ &= e^{-i\pi\phi} \prod_{i=1}^{N_f - k} \prod_{j=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \nu_j) \frac{1}{|W_{\mathrm{U}(\tilde{N}_c)}|} \int \prod_{a=1}^{\tilde{N}_c} d\sigma_a e^{i\pi\xi_m\sigma_a - \frac{i\pi}{2}k\sigma_a^2} \\ &\times \prod_{i=1}^{N_f - k} \Gamma_h(\omega - \mu_i + \sigma_a) \prod_{j=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\omega - \nu_j - \sigma_a) \prod_{a < b} \Gamma_h^{-1}(\pm(\sigma_a - \sigma_b)) \end{aligned}$$

where the phase corresponding to the contributions of the contact terms [20, 53, 54] is

$$\phi = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \nu_i + \omega(N_c - N_f)\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N_f - k} \mu_i - \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \nu_i\right) + k\omega \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \nu_i - \frac{1}{2}k \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} \nu_i^2 + \frac{1}{2}k\omega^2(N_c - N_f) + \frac{1}{2}(\eta - \omega)^2$$
(4.35)

and the effective electric and magnetic FI terms are

$$\xi_{e} = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \mu_{i} - \eta + k\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{N_{f}-k} \mu_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{N_{f}} \nu_{i} - \eta + k\omega + \omega$$

$$\xi_{m} = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \mu_{i} - \eta = \sum_{i=1}^{N_{f}-k} \mu_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{N_{f}} \nu_{i} - \eta + \omega$$
(4.36)

where in the last equalities we made use of the balancing condition (4.11) and of the relation (4.34).

4.2 The symplectic case

In this section we perform a similar analysis for the duality between a 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2 \operatorname{USp}(2N_c)$ theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals and superpotential $W = Y^2$ and an $\operatorname{USp}(2(N_f - N_c - 1))$ theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals, an anti-symmetric meson and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}^2$. Observe that a similar duality with a linear monopole superpotential has already been studied in the literature [21] and it corresponds to the duality obtained by circle reduction of 4d $\operatorname{USp}(2N_c)$ Seiberg duality [46].

Assuming the validity of this duality the identity between the partition functions on S_b^3 is

$$\frac{1}{2^{N_c}N_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm 2x_a)} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)} =$$
(4.37)

$$\prod_{1 \le i < j \le N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j) \frac{1}{2^{\widetilde{N}_c} \widetilde{N}_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{\widetilde{N}_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \omega - \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm 2x_a)} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le \widetilde{N}_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$

with the balancing condition

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2N_f} \mu_i = \omega(2N_f - 2N_c - 1) \tag{4.38}$$

As a check we show that (4.37) becomes the identity between the partition functions of the electric and of the magnetic phases of Aharony duality. We trigger the real mass flow by performing the shifts

$$\mu_{2N_f+1} = \frac{\eta}{2} + s \quad \mu_{2N_f+2} = \frac{\eta}{2} - s \tag{4.39}$$

where we impose s to be large and positive. In the dual theory we need to perform an higgsing as well, $\tilde{\sigma}_{N_f-N_c} \rightarrow y + s$. The balancing condition becomes

$$2\eta + \sum_{i=1}^{2N_f} \mu_i = \omega(2N_f - 2N_c + 1) \tag{4.40}$$

One can show that the divergent term coincide and arrive to the identity

$$\frac{1}{2^{N_c}N_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm(2x_a))} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$

$$= \Gamma_h(2\alpha) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j) \frac{1}{2^{\widetilde{N_c}} \widetilde{N_c}!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{\widetilde{N_c}} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \omega - \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm 2x_a)}$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \le a < b \le \widetilde{N_c}} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)} \int dy e^{2\pi i (\alpha - \omega) y} \Gamma_h(\pm y + \alpha) \qquad (4.41)$$

where $\tilde{N}_c = N_f - N_c - 1$. This is a duality between a USp $(2N_c)$ theory and a USp $(2(N_f - N_c - 1)) \times U(1)$ theory. In order to arrive at a more conventional duality we can reformulate this identity by integrating over the U(1) factor. The last integral in (4.41) is equivalent to the product

$$\Gamma_h(2\alpha - \omega)\Gamma_h(\omega)\Gamma_h(2\omega - 2\alpha) \tag{4.42}$$

The second term in (4.42) is exactly equal to 1 while the last term in (4.42) simplifies against $\Gamma_h(2\alpha)$ in (4.41). We are left with the term $\Gamma_h(2\alpha - \omega)$. By applying the balancing condition this is equivalent to

$$\Gamma_h \left(2\omega (N_f - N_c) - \sum_{i=1}^{2N_f} \mu_i \right)$$
(4.43)

that is the contribution of the electric monopole acting as a singlet in the dual phase. The final identity is

$$\frac{1}{2^{N_c}N_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm(2x_a))} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$

$$= \Gamma_h \left(2\omega(N_f - N_c) - \sum_{i=1}^{2N_f} \mu_i \right) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j) \frac{1}{2^{\tilde{N}_c} \tilde{N}_c!}$$

$$\times \int \prod_{a=1}^{\tilde{N}_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \omega - \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm 2x_a)} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le \tilde{N}_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)} \quad (4.44)$$

and it represents again the matching of the partition functions of Aharony duality for $USp(2N_c)$ gauge theories.

4.3 The orthogonal case

In this section we conclude the analysis by studying the duality between a 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ a $O(N_c)$ theory with N_f vectors and superpotential $W = Y^2$ and a $O(N_f - N_c + 2)$ theory with N_f dual vectors, an symmetric meson and superpotential $W = Mqq + \hat{Y}^2$. Observe that a similar duality with a linear monopole superpotential has already been studied in the literature [22] and it corresponds to the duality obtained by circle reduction of 4d $O(N_c)$ Seiberg duality [55].

We will not specify the global properties in this discussion, meaning that we analyze the duality between $O(N_c)_+$ theories in the language of [22]. It should be nevertheless interesting to study the other cases, because in this case the different global properties are expected to have observable effects on the models and consequently on the dualities. We leave this problem for future analysis.

At the level of the partition function were need to distinguish the even and odd N_c case. In the first case, if we consider an $O(2N_c)$ theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals the duality corresponds to the identity

$$\frac{1}{2^{N_c-1}N_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a \prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \mu_i) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)} =$$
(4.45)

$$\prod_{1 \le i \le j \le 2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j) \frac{1}{2^{\widetilde{N}_c - 1} \widetilde{N}_c!} \int \prod_{i=1}^{\widetilde{N}_c} dx_a \prod_{a=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \omega - \mu_i) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le \widetilde{N}_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$

with the balancing condition

$$\sum_{i=i}^{2N_f} \mu_i = \omega(2N_f - 2N_c + 1) \tag{4.46}$$

If the rank is odd, corresponding to a $O(2N_c + 1)$ theory, the identity is

$$\frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i)}{2^{N_c} N_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a)} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)} =$$
(4.47)

$$\prod_{1 \le i \le j \le 2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j) \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\omega - \mu_i)}{2^{\widetilde{N_c}} \widetilde{N_c}!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{\widetilde{N}} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \omega - \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a)} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le \widetilde{N_c}} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$

with the balancing condition

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2N_f} \mu_i = 2\omega(N_f - N_c) \tag{4.48}$$

In the following we will show how to obtain these identities by using a standard trick [20, 56]. This correspond to derive them by deforming the ones for the $USp(2N_c)$ theories.

Let us end this subsection by briefly commenting on the divergence of the partition function discussed on page 43 of [22] for the case of W = Y. For the case of $W = Y^2$, we have a different balancing condition from the linear monopole superpotential case. As a result, we do not have a divergence term that arises from $\Gamma_h(0)$. In fact, we have checked the aforementioned identities numerically for various parameters μ_i and found that the results are finite on both sides of the equality.

4.3.1 Even orthogonal case

Consider $USp(2N_c)$ with $2N_f + 4$ fundamentals and assign the masses as follows

$$\mu_{2N_f+1} = 0, \ \mu_{2N_f+2} = \frac{\omega_1}{2}, \ \mu_{2N_f+3} = \frac{\omega_2}{2}, \ \mu_{2N_f+4} = \omega \tag{4.49}$$

By using the duplication formula [56]

$$\Gamma_h(2x) = \Gamma_h(x)\Gamma_h\left(x + \frac{\omega_1}{2}\right)\Gamma_h\left(x + \frac{\omega_2}{2}\right)\Gamma_h(x + \omega)$$
(4.50)

we have

$$\prod_{a=1}^{N_c} \frac{\prod_{i=2N_f+1}^{2N_f+4} \Gamma_h(\mu_i \pm x_a)}{\Gamma_h(\pm 2x_a)} = 1$$
(4.51)

The partition function of the electric theory becomes

$$\frac{1}{2^{N_c}N_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a \prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \mu_i) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$
(4.52)

and the balancing condition is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2N_f} \mu_i = \omega(2N_f - 2N_c + 1) \tag{4.53}$$

We can do the same in the dual theory obtaining

$$\prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j) \frac{1}{2^{N_f - N_c - 1} (N_f - N_c - 1)!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_f - N_c + 1} dx_a$$

$$\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \omega - \mu_i) \prod_{1 \le a < b \le \tilde{N}_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$
(4.54)

with two extra pieces

$$\prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i) \Gamma_h\left(\mu_i + \frac{\omega_1}{2}\right) \Gamma_h\left(\mu_i + \frac{\omega_2}{2}\right) \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \omega) = \prod_{i=1}^{N_f} \Gamma_h(2\mu_i)$$
(4.55)

and

$$\Gamma_h\left(\frac{\omega_1}{2}\right)\Gamma_h\left(\frac{\omega_2}{2}\right)\Gamma_h\left(\omega+\frac{\omega_1}{2}\right)\Gamma_h\left(\omega+\frac{\omega_2}{2}\right)\Gamma_h(\omega)^2 = 1$$
(4.56)

such that the contribution of the meson becomes

$$\prod_{1 \le i \le j \le 2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j) \tag{4.57}$$

representing the fact that the meson is symmetric in this case. We have obtained an identity between an $O(2N_c)$ theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals and an $O(2N_f - 2N_c + 2)$ theory with $2N_f$ fundamentals and a symmetric meson. The electric and the magnetic monopole superpotentials, compatible with the balancing condition are quadratic.

4.3.2 Odd orthogonal case

In this case we consider $2N_f + 2$ fundamentals and fix

$$\mu_{2N_f+1} = \frac{\omega_1}{2}, \quad \mu_{2N_f+2} = \frac{\omega_2}{2},$$
(4.58)

The electric partition function becomes

$$\frac{1}{2^{N_c}N_c!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{N_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a)} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le N_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)}$$
(4.59)

with the balancing condition

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2N_f} \mu_i = \omega(2N_f - (2N_c + 1) + 1)$$
(4.60)

The dual partition function becomes

$$\frac{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N_f} \Gamma_h(\mu_i + \mu_j)}{2^{N_f - N_c} (N_f - N_c)!} \int \prod_{a=1}^{\tilde{N}_c} dx_a \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h(\pm x_a + \omega - \mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a)} \prod_{1 \le a < b \le \tilde{N}_c} \frac{1}{\Gamma_h(\pm x_a \pm x_b)} \quad (4.61)$$

with the extra piece

$$\prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \Gamma_h\left(\mu_i + \frac{\omega_1}{2}\right) \Gamma_h\left(\mu_i + \frac{\omega_2}{2}\right) = \prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \frac{\Gamma_h(2\mu_i)}{\Gamma_h(\mu_i + \omega)\Gamma_h(\mu_i)} = \prod_{i=1}^{2N_f} \frac{\Gamma_h(2\mu_i)\Gamma_h(\widetilde{\mu}_i)}{\Gamma_h(\mu_i)} \quad (4.62)$$

By distributing properly the terms on the r.h.s. and l.h.s. we arrive at the expected relation between the orthogonal theories with odd rank and quadratic superpotential

4.3.3 Flowing to Aharony in the orthogonal case

We can engineer the flow from the $W = Y^2$ duality to Aharony duality in the orthogonal case as well. This is a further check of the proposed duality. In the electric case we consider $2(N_f + 1)$ fundamentals and assign the large real masses as $\mu_{2N_f+1} = \frac{\eta}{2} + s$ and $\mu_{2N_f+2} = \frac{\eta}{2} - s$. In the magnetic theory we must consider an higgsing of the dual gauge group as well, giving raise to an $O(N_f - N_c + 2) \times U(1)$ theory. The $O(N_f - N_c + 2)$ theory has N_f fundamentals and superpotential W = Mqq, where the meson M is a symmetric tensor with dimension $N_f(2N_f+1)$. There is an extra massless singlet H in this theory, coming from the original meson with dimension $(N_f + 1)(2N_f + 3)$. This interact with the two chiral multiplets, having opposite charge under the U(1) sector. We refer to them as p and \tilde{p} , such that the superpotential of this sector is $W_{U(1)} = Hp\tilde{p}$. This U(1) sector has an FI term constrained by the choice of real masses. If we dualize this sector this is dual to three, the meson $X = p\tilde{p}$, and the monopoles Y and Z. The fields H and X are massive because of the superpotential. The duality map fixes Y to have vanishing real mass and R-charge equal to 1. This corresponds to have a massive field. The other field Z has the same quantum numbers of the electric monopole and it is compatible with the dual superpotential of the Aharony dual model. This structure can be reproduced on the partition function by distinguishing the even and odd cases as before.

5 Matching the Hilbert series

In this section, we compute the Hilbert series for theories with quadratic monopole superpotentials.

5.1 Models with unitary gauge groups

5.1.1
$$W = (X^+)^2 + (X^-)^2$$

In this section, we consider the duality presented in section 3.2.1.

Let us first analyse theory A. The residual theory is the whole $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours, with the *R*-charge Q and \tilde{Q} is given by (3.3). The Hilbert series of theory A is thus the mesonic Hilbert series of $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours

$$H^{(A)} = H^{U}_{N_{c},N_{f}}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}; R) .$$
(5.1)

where the expression for H_{N_c,N_f}^U is given in (2.9) and the *R*-charge *R* of the quarks and antiquarks are given by (3.3). There is no fugacity *y* because the axial symmetry is broken by the monopole superpotential.

Let us now analyse theory B, which is a $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours qand q, singlets M and the superpotential $W = Mq\tilde{q} + (\hat{X}^+)^2 + (\hat{X}^-)^2$, where \hat{X}^{\pm} are the basic monopole operators in this theory. In order to study the moduli space of this theory, we find that it is convenient to use the Aharony duality of theory B as a tool to study. Such a duality gives the following theory B':

Theory B': $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours \mathfrak{q} and $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}$, two singlets \hat{X}^{\pm} and superpotential

$$W_{B'} = \hat{X}^+ V^- + \hat{X}^- V^+ + (\hat{X}^+)^2 + (\hat{X}^-)^2, \qquad (5.2)$$

where V^{\pm} are the basic monopoles in theory B'. We emphasise that the basic monopole operators of theory B are identified the singlets \hat{X}^{\pm} of theory B' under the duality map. From the superpotential $W_{B'}$, we see that the singlets \hat{X}^{\pm} are massive and can be integrated out. Upon substituting the F-terms $\partial_{\hat{X}^{\pm}}W_{B'} = 0$, which give $V^{\mp} = -2\hat{X}^{\pm}$, back into $W_{B'}$, we obtain $-\frac{1}{4}[(V^+)^2 + (V^-)^2]$, which is the superpotential of theory A (up to a factor of -1/4). This provides a consistency check of the proposed duality. As an immediate consequence, the Hilbert series of theory B, which is dual to theory B' and is thus identical to that of theory A.

Moreover, since the singlets \widehat{X}^{\pm} are massive theory B' due to the term $(\widehat{X}^{\pm})^2$ in $W_{B'}$, by the duality map, we expect the basic monopole operators of theory B to be massive and the Coulomb branch of theory B to be lifted. This is consistent with our proposal that the presence of the quadratic monopole superpotential terms lead to the lift of the Coulomb branch.

5.1.2 $W = (X^{-})^{2}$

Let us now discuss about the duality presented in section 3.2.2.

Theory A. Let us consider theory A. We mix the $U(1)_{T'}$ symmetry with the *R*-symmetry such that the *R*-charges of the X^{\pm} are given by

$$R[X^{-}] = N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 1)$$
(5.3)

$$R[X^+] + \alpha = N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 1), \qquad (5.4)$$

where

$$R = \frac{1}{2}(R[Q] + R[\tilde{Q}]) .$$
 (5.5)

and α parametrizes the mixing of the UV R charge and the U(1)_{T'} charge of the monopole operators. Imposing the marginality of the superpotential we get $R[X^-] = 1$, we have

$$N_f(1-R) - (N_c - 1) = 1, (5.6)$$

from which we get R

$$R = \frac{N_f - N_c}{N_f}.$$
(5.7)

Also,

$$R[X^+] = 1 - \alpha . (5.8)$$

Now let us turn our attention to the Hilbert series. Considering the *F*-term $\partial_{X^-}W_A = 0$, we see that $X^- = 0$ in the chiral ring. Denoting the magnetic flux by $(m_1, 0, \ldots, 0, m_{N_c})$, with $m_1 \ge 0 \ge m_{N_c} = 0$, we have 2 possible cases:

• $m_1 = 0 = m_N$: with residual theory $U(N_c)$ with N_f flavours. The Hilbert series is

$$H_I^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) = H_{N_c, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R).$$

$$(5.9)$$

where z is the fugacity for the $U(1)_{T'}$ symmetry.

• $m_1 > 0 = m_N$: with residual theory U($N_c - 1$) with N_f flavours. The Hilbert series is given by

$$H_{II}^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) = \sum_{m_1=1}^{+\infty} t^{R[X^+](m_1)} z^{T'[X^+](m_1)} H_{N_c-1, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R)$$

$$= \frac{t^P z^x}{1 - t^P z^x} H_{N_c-1, N_f}^U(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R), \qquad (5.10)$$

where we assign the fugacity z^x for the U(1)'_T symmetry of X^+ , and

$$P = 1 - \alpha . \tag{5.11}$$

Thus, the Hilbert series of theory A reads

$$H^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) = H^{U}_{N_c, N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) + \left(\frac{t^P z^x}{1 - t^P z^x}\right) H^{U}_{N_c - 1, N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}, z; R) .$$
(5.12)

Theory B. Let us consider now the theory B, which is an $U(N_f - N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets \widehat{M} , singlet S^+ and superpotential $W = \widehat{M}\widetilde{q}q + (\widehat{X}^+)^2 + S^+\widehat{X}^-$, where \widehat{X}^{\pm} are the basic monopole operators in theory B. To analyse the moduli space, it is convenient focus on the Aharony dual of theory B, which is given by the following theory B'.

Theory B': U(N_c) with N_f flavours and singlets \widehat{X}^{\pm} and S⁺ with superpotential

$$W_{B'} = \hat{X}^+ V^- + \hat{X}^- V^+ + (\hat{X}^+)^2 + \hat{X}^- S^+ .$$
 (5.13)

where V^{\pm} are the basic monopole operators of theory B'. The singlets \widehat{X}^{\pm} in theory B' are mapped to the basic monopole operators in theory B under the duality.

We see that the singlet \widehat{X}^+ is massive and can be integrated out. The *F*-terms with respect to the singlets are

$$\partial_{\widehat{\chi}^{-}} W_{B'} = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad V^{+} = -S^{+}, \tag{5.14}$$

$$\partial_{S^+} W_{B'} = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \widehat{X}^- = 0, \tag{5.15}$$

$$\partial_{\widehat{X}^+} W_{B'} = 0 \implies V^- = -2\widehat{X}^+.$$
 (5.16)

Plugging these equations into $W_{B'}$, we eliminate S^+ , \hat{X}^{\pm} and obtain

$$W_{B'} = -\frac{1}{4} (V^{-})^2 , \qquad (5.17)$$

which is the superpotential of theory A (up to a factor of -1/4). This provides a consistency check of the proposed duality. As an immediate consequence, the Hilbert series of theory B, which is dual to theory B' and is thus identical to that of theory A. Since the singlet \hat{X}^+ are massive theory B', by the duality map, we expect the basic monopole operators of theory B to be massive and the Coulomb branch of theory B to be lifted. This is consistent with our proposal that the presence of the quadratic monopole superpotential terms lead to the lift of the Coulomb branch.

5.1.3 $W = (X^{-})^{2}$, chiral flavours and CS terms

We now consider the duality involving chiral flavours and CS terms presented in section 3.2.3.

The analysis of theory A is very similar to section 2.2.6. The monopole operator X^- vanishes in the chiral ring due to the quadratic term $(X^-)^2$ in the superpotential, and the Coulomb branch generated by X^+ is lifted due to the non-zero CS level. The Hilbert series of theory A is given by (2.79) with the R-charge R given by (3.5).

By the similar argument to section 2.2.6, the moduli space of theory B is generated by M subject to the quantum condition that $\operatorname{rank}(M) \leq N_c$. In order to prove this, we turn on a VEV of M with rank $N_c + p$ with p > 0 and obtain the how energy theory of $U(N_f - N_c)_{-k/2}$ gauge theory with $(N'_f = N_f - N_c - p, N'_a = N_f - k - N_c - p)$ fund/antifund. We then use the BCC duality to obtain the dual theory. Since the dual gauge group is the unitary group of rank $N'_f - (N_f - N_c) = -p$, we see that for p > 0, supersymmetry is broken and there is no supersymmetric vacuum.

5.2 Models with symplectic gauge groups

We now consider the duality involving symplectic gauge groups presented in section 3.3.

In theory A the Coulomb branch is completely lifted due to the quadratic term Y^2 in the superpotential. The Hilbert series of the theory is thus the mesonic Hilbert series

$$H^{(A)} = H^{USp}_{2N_c, 2N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{x}; R),$$
(5.18)

where the expression for $H_{2N_c,2N_f}^{USp}$ is given by (2.82) and the *R*-charge *R* of the fundamentals is given by (3.6). There is no fugacity *y* because the U(1) axial symmetry is broken.

Let us consider now theory B. It is convenient to study its Aharony duality. Let us call the latter B'. This is a $\mathrm{USp}(2N_c)$ gauge theory with a singlet \hat{Y} and superpotential $W' = \hat{Y}\hat{Y}' + \hat{Y}^2$ where \hat{Y}' is now the basic monopole of this theory. Here \hat{Y} is massive and can be integrated out. The F-terms of the singlet give $\hat{Y}' = -2\hat{Y}$. Substituting back in W', we obtain a superpotential $W' = -\frac{1}{4}\hat{Y}'^2$. This is the superpotential of theory A(up to a factor of -1/4). This provides a consistency check of the proposed duality. As an immediate consequence, the Hilbert series of theory B, which is dual to theory B' and is thus identical to that of theory A. Since the singlet \hat{Y} are massive theory B', by the duality map, we expect the basic monopole operators of theory B to be massive and the Coulomb branch of theory B to be lifted. This is consistent with our proposal that the presence of the quadratic monopole superpotential terms lead to the lift of the Coulomb branch.

5.3 Models with orthogonal gauge groups

We now consider the duality involving orthogonal gauge groups presented in section 3.4.

Let us first analyse theory A. The Coulomb branch is completely lifted due to the *F*-term $\partial_Y W = 0$, so the Hilbert series of the theory is the mesonic Hilbert series

$$H^{(A)}(t, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = H^{O}_{N_c, N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{x}; R),$$
(5.19)

where the expression for H_{N_c,N_f}^O is given by (2.104) and R is the R-charge of the quarks given by (3.7).

Let us now turn to theory B. As before, it is convenient to consider the Aharony dual of this theory B. Let us call this theory B'. It is an $O(N_c)$ gauge theory with a singlet \hat{Y} and superpotential $W' = \hat{Y}'\hat{Y} + \hat{Y}^2$, where \hat{Y}' is the basic monopole of this theory. Here \hat{Y} is massive and can be integrated out. The *F*-term of the singlet gives $\hat{Y}' = -2\hat{Y}$. Substituting back in W' we obtain a superpotential $W' = -\frac{1}{4}\hat{Y}'^2$, which is the superpotential of theory A (up to a factor of -1/4). As in the previous subsection, this provides the consistency of the duality. The Hilbert series of theory B, which is dual to theory B' and is thus identical to that of theory A.

For the duality involving the special orthogonal gauge groups, the analysis is very similar. For theory A', the Hilbert series is

$$H^{(A')}(t, \boldsymbol{x}; R) = H^{SO}_{N_c, N_f}(t, \boldsymbol{x}; R),$$
(5.20)

where H_{N_c,N_f}^{SO} is given by (2.115). The moduli space of theory B' can be analysed by using the ARSW duality in the same way as the above.

6 Further developments

Let us conclude this paper by discussing an obstruction to the duality for theories with quartic powers of the monopole superpotential. We then proceed to discuss open problems and other research directions that we leave for future work.

6.1 The quartic monopole superpotential

Let us consider the following pairs of theories:

Theory A: $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours Q and \tilde{Q} , and superpotential

$$W_A = (X^+)^4 + (X^-)^4 . (6.1)$$

Theory B: $U(N_f - N_c + 1)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours q and \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets M and superpotential

$$W_B = M\tilde{q}q + (\hat{X}^+)^4 + (\hat{X}^-)^4 .$$
(6.2)

The *R*-charge R_A of the quarks and antiquarks in theory *A* is fixed by the monopole superpotential:

$$R[X^{\pm}] = \frac{1}{2} = N_f(1 - R_A) - (N_c - 1) \quad \Rightarrow \quad R_A = \frac{2N_f - 2N_c + 1}{2N_f} . \tag{6.3}$$

A similar computation show that the *R*-charge R_B of the quarks and antiquarks in theory B is

$$R[\hat{X}^{\pm}] = \frac{1}{2} = N_f(1 - R_B) - (N_f - N_c + 1 - 1) \quad \Rightarrow \quad R_B = \frac{2N_c - 1}{2N_f} . \tag{6.4}$$

Indeed, the *R*-charge of *M* in theory *B* is $R[M] = 2 - 2R_B = \frac{2N_f - 2N_c + 1}{N_f}$. This is equal to the *R*-charge of the mesons in theory *A*, where latter is $2R_A = \frac{2N_f - 2N_c + 1}{N_f}$. Thus, theories *A* and *B* have a chance to be dual to each other. However a further analysis shows that this is not the case.

In theory A, we use the similar argument as in section 3.1 that the presence of $(X^{\pm})^4$ terms in the superpotential lifts the Coulomb branch. The residual theory is thus a $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours. The meson matrix thus has a maximum rank of N_c .

On the other hand, in theory B, if we give a VEV of rank N_c to the singlet M, which is dual to the meson in theory A, the low energy effective field theory is $U(N_f - N_c + 1)$ gauge theory with $N_f - N_c$ flavours. According to [3], this theory is described by the monopole operators \hat{X}^{\pm} and the mesons $q\tilde{q}$ satisfying $\hat{X}^+\hat{X}^- \det(q\tilde{q}) = 1$.¹⁴ The effective superpotential of theory B is therefore

$$W'_B = (\hat{X}^+)^4 + (\hat{X}^-)^4 + \lambda (\hat{X}^+ \hat{X}^- \det(q\hat{q}) - 1), \qquad (6.5)$$

where λ is a Lagrange multiplier. Using the equations of motion, we find that the effective superpotential becomes $W'_B \sim (\det(q\tilde{q}))^{-2}$. Thus, we have runaway vacua. This does not

¹⁴The *R*-charge of \widehat{X}^{\pm} in this effective theory is $R[\widehat{X}^{\pm}] = (N_f - N_c)(1 - R) - (N_f - N_c + 1 - 1)$, where $R = R[q] = R[\widehat{q}]$ and $R[\det(q\widehat{q})] = 2(N_f - N_c)R$. Thus, $\widehat{X}^+ \widehat{X}^- \det(q\widehat{q})$ has *R*-charge 0.

match with theory A, where we have the mesonic branch of $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours as the moduli space of vacua. Thus, the duality fails.

This argument can be used to show that the following pairs of theories **cannot** be dual to each other:

Theory A: $O(N_c)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours, and superpotential $W_A = Y^4$.

Theory B: O($N_f - N_c + 3$) gauge theory with N_f flavours q, $N_f(2N_f + 1)$ singlets M and superpotential $W_B = Mqq + \hat{Y}^4$.

The *R*-charge of the mesons in theory *A* is equal to that of *M* in theory *B*; they are equal to $\frac{2N_f - 2N_c + 3}{N_f}$. The maximum rank of the meson matrix in theory *A* is N_c . Applying the BCC duality to theory *B*, we obtain the dual gauge group being O($N_c - 1$). The maximum rank of the meson matrix in the latter is $N_c - 1$, which is not compatible with that in theory *A*.

Let us finally consider the following pairs of theories:

Theory A: U(N_c) gauge theory with N_f flavours, and superpotential $W_A = (X^-)^4$.

Theory B: U($N_f - N_c + x$) gauge theory with N_f flavours q, \tilde{q} , N_f^2 singlets M, a singlet S^+ and superpotential $W_B = Mq\tilde{q} + S^+\tilde{X}^- + (\tilde{X}^+)^4$.

As before, the maximum rank of the meson matrix of theory A is N_c . Let us consider the Aharony dual of theory B and call this theory B'. The latter is a $U(N_c - x)$ gauge theory with N_f flavours, singlets S^+ , \hat{X}^+ , \hat{X}^- , N_f^2 singlets M and superpotential $W_{B'} = \hat{X}^+V^- + \hat{X}^-V^+ + S^+\hat{X}^- + (\hat{X}^+)^4$, where V^{\pm} are the basic monopole operators of theory B'. Using the F-terms $\partial_{\hat{X}^{\pm}}W_{B'} = 0$ and $\partial_{S^+}W_{B'} = 0$ and substituting back to $W_{B'}$, we obtain the effective superpotential $W_{B'} \sim (V^-)^{4/3}$. Observe that, for this model, we do not recover the superpotential of theory A under this procedure, as the theories discussed earlier in section 5. Let us, nevertheless, proceed further. This effective superpotential sets the R-charge of V^- to be $R[V^-] = \frac{3}{2}$. The R-charges of X^- of theory A and V^- of theory B' are given by

$$\frac{1}{2} - \beta = R[X^{-}] = N_f(1 - R_A) - (N_c - 1), \qquad (6.6)$$

$$\frac{3}{2} - \beta = R[V^{-}] = N_f (1 - R_{B'}) - (N_f - N_c + x - 1), \qquad (6.7)$$

where β parametrises the mixing between $U(1)_R$ and $U(1)_{T'}$; and R_A and $R_{B'}$ are the R-charges of quarks and antiquarks in theories A and B', respectively. Since the mesons in theory A are mapped to the mesons in theory B', we also require that

$$R_A = R_{B'} av{6.8}$$

Solving these three equations, we find that

$$x = 2N_c - N_f - 1 . (6.9)$$

Thus theory B' has gauge group $U(N_c - 1)$, and the maximum rank of the meson matrix is $N_c - 1$. This is in contradiction with theory A.

6.2 Future directions

Let us discuss some other interesting lines of research that we leave for future analysis.

An important aspects that we did not discuss in the paper is related to estimation of the conformal window. This is indeed possibile that some singlets hit the bound of unitarity when maximizing the free energy. This bounds corresponds to the failure of the inequality $\Delta_{\text{Singlet}} > \Delta_{\text{Free}} = \frac{1}{2}$. In such cases we are in presence of accidental symmetries that need to be cured by applying the procedure of [57] (see also [58] for a 3d version of this procedure). This can modify the dualities and it should be interesting to have a complete understanding of the conformal window along the lines of [59]. A related analysis consists of finding UV complete models that flow to the ones with quadratic power monopole superpotentials in the IR, of the type discussed here. Similar discussions appeared in [35] and it would be interesting to adapt such analysis to our cases.

Another aspects that we did not discuss is related to the global aspects of the dualities with orthogonal gauge groups in presence of quadratic power monopole superpotentials. In such cases one should follow the discussion of [22] and distinguish $O(N)_{\pm}$ and Spin(N)cases. Here we restricted to the duality between $O(N)_{\pm}$ groups.

Furthermore we did not discuss possible dualities between SU(N) gauge groups and quadratic power monopole superpotentals. The existence of a duality for the USp(2) = SU(2) case looks a good starting point for the existence of such duality, but we have not been able to provide a general behaviour for such a case.

Another interesting problem consists of the brane interpretation of the quadratic monopole superpotential. Naively one can think to this superpotential as arising as in the linear case [60], i.e. by placing a 4D theory on a circle, T-dualizing, possibly moving some D-brane (D3 and or D5) along the circle and then adding a D1 brane between two stacks of D3 branes separated along the compact direction. These D1 branes represent the monopole superpotential, KK monopole in the case of real gauge groups [61] and linear monopoles for unitary groups [62]. A similar construction may be engineered for the quadratic monopoles, where the higher power can be for example engineered by multiple stacks of D1 branes. It should be interesting to check this or similar constructions.

Acknowledgments

We thank Francesco Benini, Sergio Benvenuti, Luca Cassia, Stefano Cremonesi, Simone Giacomelli, Gabriele Lo Monaco, and Sara Pasquetti for valuable discussions. A.A. and N.M. gratefully acknowledge the Simons Center for Geometry and Physics for the Simons Summer Workshop 2016, where this work was initiated. A.A. and N.M. are also indebted to the Galileo Galilei Institute for Theoretical Physics for the hospitality during the Workshop on Supersymmetric Quantum Field Theories in the Non-perturbative Regime, where substantial progress on this work has been made. We thank INFN for support during the completion of this work.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J. de Boer, K. Hori, Y. Oz and Z. Yin, Branes and mirror symmetry in N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 502 (1997) 107 [hep-th/9702154] [INSPIRE].
- [2] J. de Boer, K. Hori and Y. Oz, Dynamics of N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 500 (1997) 163 [hep-th/9703100] [INSPIRE].
- [3] O. Aharony, A. Hanany, K.A. Intriligator, N. Seiberg and M.J. Strassler, Aspects of N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 499 (1997) 67 [hep-th/9703110] [INSPIRE].
- [4] A. Karch, Seiberg duality in three-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 405 (1997) 79 [hep-th/9703172] [INSPIRE].
- [5] O. Aharony, IR duality in d = 3 N = 2 supersymmetric USp(2N(c)) and U(N(c)) gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 404 (1997) 71 [hep-th/9703215] [INSPIRE].
- [6] N. Seiberg, Electric-magnetic duality in supersymmetric nonAbelian gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 129 [hep-th/9411149] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Armoni and V. Niarchos, Phases of QCD₃ from non-SUSY Seiberg Duality and Brane Dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 106001 [arXiv:1711.04832] [INSPIRE].
- [8] V. Bashmakov, J. Gomis, Z. Komargodski and A. Sharon, *Phases of* $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories in 2 + 1 dimensions, *JHEP* **07** (2018) 123 [arXiv:1802.10130] [INSPIRE].
- [9] F. Benini and S. Benvenuti, $\mathcal{N}=1$ dualities in 2+1 dimensions, arXiv:1803.01784 [INSPIRE].
- [10] D. Gaiotto, Z. Komargodski and J. Wu, Curious Aspects of Three-Dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFTs, JHEP **08** (2018) 004 [arXiv:1804.02018] [INSPIRE].
- [11] F. Benini and S. Benvenuti, N = 1 QED in 2 + 1 dimensions: Dualities and enhanced symmetries, arXiv:1804.05707 [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Giombi, S. Minwalla, S. Prakash, S.P. Trivedi, S.R. Wadia and X. Yin, Chern-Simons Theory with Vector Fermion Matter, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2112 [arXiv:1110.4386] [INSPIRE].
- [13] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, d = 3 Bosonic Vector Models Coupled to Chern-Simons Gauge Theories, JHEP 03 (2012) 037 [arXiv:1110.4382] [INSPIRE].
- [14] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, Correlation Functions of Large N Chern-Simons-Matter Theories and Bosonization in Three Dimensions, JHEP 12 (2012) 028
 [arXiv:1207.4593] [INSPIRE].
- [15] O. Aharony, Baryons, monopoles and dualities in Chern-Simons-matter theories, JHEP 02 (2016) 093 [arXiv:1512.00161] [INSPIRE].
- [16] N. Seiberg, T. Senthil, C. Wang and E. Witten, A Duality Web in 2 + 1 Dimensions and Condensed Matter Physics, Annals Phys. 374 (2016) 395 [arXiv:1606.01989] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A.M. Polyakov, Quark Confinement and Topology of Gauge Groups, Nucl. Phys. B 120 (1977) 429 [INSPIRE].
- [18] I. Affleck, J.A. Harvey and E. Witten, Instantons and (Super)Symmetry Breaking in (2+1)-Dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 206 (1982) 413 [INSPIRE].

- [19] N. Dorey, D. Tong and S. Vandoren, Instanton effects in three-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories with matter, JHEP 04 (1998) 005 [hep-th/9803065] [INSPIRE].
- [20] F. Benini, C. Closset and S. Cremonesi, Comments on 3d Seiberg-like dualities, JHEP 10 (2011) 075 [arXiv:1108.5373] [INSPIRE].
- [21] O. Aharony, S.S. Razamat, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, 3d dualities from 4d dualities, JHEP 07 (2013) 149 [arXiv:1305.3924] [INSPIRE].
- [22] O. Aharony, S.S. Razamat, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, 3d dualities from 4d dualities for orthogonal groups, JHEP 08 (2013) 099 [arXiv:1307.0511] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Dimofte and D. Gaiotto, An E7 Surprise, JHEP 10 (2012) 129 [arXiv:1209.1404]
 [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Benvenuti and S. Pasquetti, $3d \mathcal{N} = 2$ mirror symmetry, pq-webs and monopole superpotentials, JHEP 08 (2016) 136 [arXiv:1605.02675] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Collinucci, S. Giacomelli and R. Valandro, *T-branes, monopoles and S-duality*, *JHEP* 10 (2017) 113 [arXiv:1703.09238] [INSPIRE].
- [26] K. Maruyoshi and J. Song, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ deformations and RG flows of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs, JHEP 02 (2017) 075 [arXiv:1607.04281] [INSPIRE].
- [27] P. Agarwal, K. Maruyoshi and J. Song, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Deformations and RG flows of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs, part II: non-principal deformations, JHEP **12** (2016) 103 [Addendum ibid. **04** (2017) 113] [arXiv:1610.05311] [INSPIRE].
- [28] P. Agarwal, A. Sciarappa and J. Song, N = 1 Lagrangians for generalized Argyres-Douglas theories, JHEP 10 (2017) 211 [arXiv:1707.04751] [INSPIRE].
- [29] S. Benvenuti and S. Giacomelli, Supersymmetric gauge theories with decoupled operators and chiral ring stability, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 251601 [arXiv:1706.02225] [INSPIRE].
- [30] S. Benvenuti and S. Giacomelli, Abelianization and sequential confinement in 2+1 dimensions, JHEP 10 (2017) 173 [arXiv:1706.04949] [INSPIRE].
- [31] S. Benvenuti and S. Giacomelli, Lagrangians for generalized Argyres-Douglas theories, JHEP 10 (2017) 106 [arXiv:1707.05113] [INSPIRE].
- [32] N. Aghaei, A. Amariti and Y. Sekiguchi, Notes on Integral Identities for 3d Supersymmetric Dualities, JHEP 04 (2018) 022 [arXiv:1709.08653] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Giacomelli and N. Mekareeya, Mirror theories of 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SQCD, JHEP **03** (2018) 126 [arXiv:1711.11525] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M.S. Block, R.G. Melko and R.K. Kaul, Fate of \mathbb{CP}^{N-1} Fixed Points with q Monopoles, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111** (2013) 137202 [arXiv:1307.0519] [INSPIRE].
- [35] F. Benini, S. Benvenuti and S. Pasquetti, SUSY monopole potentials in 2+1 dimensions, JHEP 08 (2017) 086 [arXiv:1703.08460] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Cremonesi, A. Hanany and A. Zaffaroni, Monopole operators and Hilbert series of Coulomb branches of $3d \ \mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge theories, JHEP **01** (2014) 005 [arXiv:1309.2657] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Cremonesi, The Hilbert series of 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Yang-Mills theories with vectorlike matter, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 455401 [arXiv:1505.02409] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Hanany, C. Hwang, H. Kim, J. Park and R.-K. Seong, Hilbert Series for Theories with Aharony Duals, JHEP 11 (2015) 132 [arXiv:1505.02160] [INSPIRE].

- [39] S. Cremonesi, N. Mekareeya and A. Zaffaroni, The moduli spaces of $3d \ N \ge 2$ Chern-Simons gauge theories and their Hilbert series, JHEP 10 (2016) 046 [arXiv:1607.05728] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Cremonesi, 3d supersymmetric gauge theories and Hilbert series, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 98 (2018) 21 [arXiv:1701.00641] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D.L. Jafferis, The Exact Superconformal R-Symmetry Extremizes Z, JHEP 05 (2012) 159 [arXiv:1012.3210] [INSPIRE].
- [42] N. Hama, K. Hosomichi and S. Lee, Notes on SUSY Gauge Theories on Three-Sphere, JHEP 03 (2011) 127 [arXiv:1012.3512] [INSPIRE].
- [43] N. Hama, K. Hosomichi and S. Lee, SUSY Gauge Theories on Squashed Three-Spheres, JHEP 05 (2011) 014 [arXiv:1102.4716] [INSPIRE].
- [44] A. Kapustin, B. Willett and I. Yaakov, Exact Results for Wilson Loops in Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories with Matter, JHEP 03 (2010) 089 [arXiv:0909.4559] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. Kapustin, B. Willett and I. Yaakov, Nonperturbative Tests of Three-Dimensional Dualities, JHEP 10 (2010) 013 [arXiv:1003.5694] [INSPIRE].
- [46] K.A. Intriligator and P. Pouliot, Exact superpotentials, quantum vacua and duality in supersymmetric SP(N(c)) gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 353 (1995) 471 [hep-th/9505006]
 [INSPIRE].
- [47] J. Gray, A. Hanany, Y.-H. He, V. Jejjala and N. Mekareeya, SQCD: A Geometric Apercu, JHEP 05 (2008) 099 [arXiv:0803.4257] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Giveon and D. Kutasov, Seiberg Duality in Chern-Simons Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 812 (2009) 1 [arXiv:0808.0360] [INSPIRE].
- [49] A. Amariti and C. Klare, Chern-Simons and RG Flows: Contact with Dualities, JHEP 08 (2014) 144 [arXiv:1405.2312] [INSPIRE].
- [50] A. Hanany and N. Mekareeya, Counting Gauge Invariant Operators in SQCD with Classical Gauge Groups, JHEP 10 (2008) 012 [arXiv:0805.3728] [INSPIRE].
- [51] O. Aharony and I. Shamir, On $O(N_c)$ d = 3 N = 2 supersymmetric QCD Theories, JHEP 12 (2011) 043 [arXiv:1109.5081] [INSPIRE].
- [52] K. Intriligator and N. Seiberg, Aspects of 3d N = 2 Chern-Simons-Matter Theories, JHEP 07 (2013) 079 [arXiv:1305.1633] [INSPIRE].
- [53] C. Closset, T.T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia, Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Contact Terms, Unitarity and F-Maximization in Three-Dimensional Superconformal Theories, JHEP 10 (2012) 053 [arXiv:1205.4142] [INSPIRE].
- [54] C. Closset, T.T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia, Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Comments on Chern-Simons Contact Terms in Three Dimensions, JHEP 09 (2012) 091
 [arXiv:1206.5218] [INSPIRE].
- [55] K.A. Intriligator and N. Seiberg, Duality, monopoles, dyons, confinement and oblique confinement in supersymmetric SO(N(c)) gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 444 (1995) 125
 [hep-th/9503179] [INSPIRE].
- [56] V.P. Spiridonov and G.S. Vartanov, Elliptic hypergeometry of supersymmetric dualities II. Orthogonal groups, knots and vortices, Commun. Math. Phys. 325 (2014) 421
 [arXiv:1107.5788] [INSPIRE].

- [57] D. Kutasov, A. Parnachev and D.A. Sahakyan, Central charges and U(1)(R) symmetries in N = 1 superYang-Mills, JHEP 11 (2003) 013 [hep-th/0308071] [INSPIRE].
- [58] P. Agarwal, A. Amariti and M. Siani, Refined Checks and Exact Dualities in Three Dimensions, JHEP 10 (2012) 178 [arXiv:1205.6798] [INSPIRE].
- [59] B.R. Safdi, I.R. Klebanov and J. Lee, A Crack in the Conformal Window, JHEP 04 (2013) 165 [arXiv:1212.4502] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Amariti, D. Forcella, C. Klare, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, The braneology of 3D dualities, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 265401 [arXiv:1501.06571] [INSPIRE].
- [61] A. Amariti, D. Forcella, C. Klare, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, 4D/3D reduction of dualities: mirrors on the circle, JHEP 10 (2015) 048 [arXiv:1504.02783] [INSPIRE].
- [62] A. Amariti, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, Monopole Quivers and new 3D N = 2 dualities, Nucl. Phys. B 924 (2017) 153 [arXiv:1705.09297] [INSPIRE].